AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
Function Room, South Holland
Centre, Market Place, Spalding,
PE11 1SS

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
01775 764838
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

11 January 2022

If you would like to attend this
meeting as a member of the
public, please contact Democratic
Services on 01775 764838 or at
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held in the Function Room, South Holland
Centre, Market Place, Spalding on Wednesday, 19 January 2022, commencing at 6.30
pm at which your attendance is requested.
Yours faithfully,

Rob Barlow
Chief Executive
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 24
November 2021 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declaration of Interests.
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

(Pages
5 - 20)

4.

Chairman's Announcements.

5.

Announcements by Leader and Members of the Cabinet.

6.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

7.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

8.

Committee Minutes
To receive the minutes of the following Committees and Panels:a) Performance Monitoring Panel - 9 November 2021
b) Governance and Audit Committee - 11 November 2021
c) Policy Development Panel - 16 November 2021
d) Special meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel - 7 December
2021
e) Special meeting of the Policy Development Panel – 14 December
2021

9.

Key Decision Plan
To receive the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).

(Pages
21 - 28)

10.

Report from Cabinet meeting on 14 December 2021
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
29 - 78)

a) Garden Waste Scheme Update – To provide an update on the
garden waste scheme and consider future options (Cabinet minute
27) (Cabinet agenda item 7);
b) Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 – To seek Cabinet
decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 Local Council Tax
Support scheme, to be presented to Council for approval on 19
January 2022 (Cabinet minute 32) (Cabinet agenda item 12);
c) 21/22 Financial Report Quarter 2 – To provide information on the
Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) financial position of the Council
(Cabinet minute 33) (Cabinet agenda item 13)
(report of the Cabinet enclosed).
11.

HRA rent setting 2022-2023
To seek Council approval for the proposed applicable rent increase
allowable under the Rent Standard 2020 for HRA tenants and other
housing tenures (report of the Assistant Director Housing enclosed).

(Pages
79 - 84)

12.

Mid Term Treasury Report 2021/22
To provide an update of the treasury management position of the

(Pages
85 -

Council as at 30 September 2021 (report of the Deputy Chief Executive
– Corporate Development (S151) enclosed).
13.

Nominations for Committees and other Seats and Proposed Changes to
the Constitution.
To receive, from political groups, nominations for any changes to
Committees and other seats and to consider any proposed changes to
the Constitution.

14.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

102)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
- 35 -

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in the
Function Room, South Holland Centre, Market Place, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11
1SS, on Wednesday, 24 November 2021 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
P A Redgate (Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
F Biggadike
H J W Bingham
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
A Casson
P E Coupland
A C Cronin

H Drury
R A Gibson
R Grocock
M Hasan
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds

G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese
M D Seymour
S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf (ViceChairman)
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors A C Beal,
R Gambba-Jones and A C Tennant.
In Attendance: The Joint Chief Executive, the Interim Deputy Chief Executive
(Communities), the Deputy Chief Executive (Growth), the Deputy Chief Executive
(Programme Delivery) and SIRO, the Head of Public Protection, the Head of Delivery,
the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team Leader.
Action
By

51.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.
Apologies were received from Councillors Beal, Tennant and
Gambba-Jones.

52.

MINUTES
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of Full
Council held on 22 September 2021.
DECISION:
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.

53.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.

Page 5

- 36 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

There were none.

54.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.
The Chairman made the following announcements:
•
•

•
•

55.

The Chairman thanked Councillor Newton for the work she had
undertaken in relation to the memorial for Pilot Officer George
Furniss.
The Chairman thanked those who had provided assistance with
the Remembrance Sunday event – Jan Whitbourn, Emily
Holmes, Julia Knight, Democratic Services and all the bodies
engaged in supporting the event.
The Chairman reminded members that he was holding a Quiz
Night on 25 November 2021 in aid of MIND – there were still
some tickets available.
The Chairman welcomed the Joint Chief Executive (Rob Barlow)
to the meeting, who in turn introduced the Deputy Chief
Executive (Growth) (Michelle Sacks) and the Deputy Chief
Executive (Programme Delivery) and SIRO (Adrian Sibley).

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE
CABINET.
The Leader had no announcements to make.
Councillor Grocock advised that the Government had announced
that all new houses built from 2022 onwards would need to include
an electric charging point. This was a Building Control matter,
officers would confirm when this would take effect, and Council
would be kept updated.

56.

QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 6
There were none.

57.

QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING
ORDER 7
Question to: Councillor Grocock
Question From: Councillor Newton
Subject: Key Decision Plan – Acquisition project to purchase s106
rented units
Councillor Newton referred to the item on the Key Decision Plan
‘Acquisition project to purchase s106 rented units – To seek
approval to commit capital to purchase s106 rented dwellings’. At

Page 6

- 37 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

Performance Monitoring Panel on 9 November 2021 she had asked
how many properties this related to – could the Portfolio Holder
provide any feedback?
Councillor Grocock responded that this item related to the purchase
of 3 s106 rented affordable homes at Albion Street in Crowland, and
that this would provide 3 much needed one- bedroom units. He
commented that the Capital Programme had been approved by
Council and, the homes subject to this decision would be delivered
through the approved budget. Officers were in discussions with the
developer to agree a cost.
Question to: Councillor Grocock
Question From: Councillor Newton
Subject: Key Decision Plan – Property Acquisition to support
Housing Options service delivery (A), (E) and (F)
Councillor Newton referred to the items on the Key Decision Plan
‘Property acquisition to support Housing Options service delivery (A),
(E) and (F) – Acquisition of a second hand property’ and asked how
many properties had been targeted or identified, and how much was
in the budget?
Councillor Grocock responded that these items related to RSAP
properties. Originally, six entries had been added to the Key
Decision Plan, one for each unit to be delivered however, as
decision B related to three units and D related to two units, six units
had been acquired through three decisions. Decisions A, E and F
had been kept on the Key Decision Planner in case any of the
purchases of properties that had been part of the original three
decisions fell through, and there was a requirement to purchase
alternative properties. There were six identified property purchases
to be undertaken by January 2022 and if decisions A, E and F were
not required, they would be removed from Key Decision Planner at
that point.
Question to: Councillor Grocock
Question From: Councillor Newton
Subject: Property acquisition in Monkshouse Ward
Councillor Newton commented that, in relation to her previous
question, a property had been acquired by the Council in the
Monkshouse Ward – she had originally been advised that it would be
ready for occupation earlier in the year, that this date had been
delayed twice and that it was still not ready. Could the Portfolio
Holder advise when the property would be ready for occupation?
Councillor Grocock responded that an initial survey had been

Page 7

- 38 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

undertaken on the property which had not identified all issues.
Within the next few days, members will be invited to look at the
finished property. The identified budget that the Council had
originally set had been adhered to however, the property had
overrun due to COVID and manpower issues, but it would be
delivered shortly.
Question to: Councillors Coupland, Worth and Grocock
Question From: Councillor Alcock
Subject: Christmas shopping promotion in Spalding and Holbeach
Councillor Alcock commented that a comprehensive range of events
was being held in Spalding and Holbeach, along with competitions,
to encourage local shopping during the festive period. Why could
the same not be done for the other towns in the district?
Councillor Coupland stated that community budgets and local
regeneration were funding these schemes, and Councillor Worth
confirmed that the Spalding and Holbeach Town Improvement
Funds were being used. There were no improvement funds for other
towns in the district.
Councillor Alcock commented that it was sad that funds could not be
found for the other towns. As money was being spent in Spalding
and Holbeach, he raised again a question that had been asked at a
previous meeting of the Council – what was being done to address
the mess made by pigeons, and the poor state of some of the empty
shops in Spalding.
Councillor Grocock responded that the funding being used to
welcome back shoppers into Spalding and Holbeach had been
available to other towns and villages, and all Parish Councils had
been contacted however, only one reply had been received. With
regard to the pigeons, he advised that signs had been put out to not
feed the pigeons, local businesses had been contacted where there
were issues, and there had been discussions at the steering group.
With regard to funding, Councillor Worth commented that money
from the Welcome Back fund was still available, and he asked
councillors to encourage the Parish Councils to respond if funding
was required.
Question to: Councillor Astill
Question From: Councillor Gibson
Subject: Live streaming of meetings
Councillor Gibson commented that other Councils were holding
many of their meetings within Council Chambers again, and were
live-streaming the meetings – did the Council have a timeframe for

Page 8

- 39 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

this to be happening at SHDC?
Councillor Astill commented that not all meetings were being held in
the Council Chamber as it could not safely accommodate large
numbers due to social distancing as a result of the Covid pandemic.
An update of equipment was currently being undertaken by
Democratic Services and PSPSL, to update the equipment within the
Council Chamber, to enable improved technical functionality.
58.

COMMITTEE MINUTES
The minutes of the following Committees and Panels were noted:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Performance Monitoring Panel – 8 September 2021
Committee of the Licensing Authority – 16 September 2021
Policy Development Panel – 21 September 2021
Planning Committee – 6 October 2021
Special meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel – 19
October 2021
Planning Committee – 10 November 2021
Committee of the Licensing Authority – 11 November 2021

It was noted that the minutes of the meetings of Performance
Monitoring Panel on 9 November 2021 and Governance and Audit
Committee on 11 November 2021 were still to be finalised, and
would be added to the next meeting of Council for noting.
59.

KEY DECISION PLAN
Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan.
DECISION:
That the Key Decision Plan be received.

60.

LEGAL STREET ART WALL PETITION
The following petition had recently been submitted to the Council:
Title: Legal Street Art Wall
Statement: We the undersigned petition the Council to help us
organise/find a designated area/wall/walls to become a legal spot in
Spalding for street artists/artists to be able to paint there.
Justification: Many from around the area have commented on
social media, after seeing some local work and talent, that it would
be a nice attraction for the town to have a legal street art wall –
somewhere people can go to paint. Peterborough has one and it has
been a huge attraction for the city, with people coming from all over

Page 9

- 40 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

the country to visit the artwork. Having something like this in
Spalding will attract many big named street artists to come and paint
here, and also be an attraction for the town, bringing more
business/customers to the rest of the town whilst they visit. Schools
can also use an area/wall to do art projects, and the local community
could put on workshops, to teach the younger generation about the
street art culture, to respect the artwork and to teach them how to do
it.
In line with the Council’s petition scheme, the petition organiser was
invited to present the petition for debate at Full Council. The
Chairman welcomed Karl Barfoot (petition organiser) and Adam
Sadd to the meeting, and they raised the following points in respect
of their petition:
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Karl and Adam had met through doing street art and painting in
Peterborough. Their aim was do something closer to home and
to give something back to the town;
They had liaised with Spalding Wombles to do some artwork on
arches behind the Spalding Rugby Club. This had resulted in a
tribute to Captain Sir Tom Moore, which had received positive
feedback;
Public reaction to artwork undertaken had been positive – it had
been publicised online, on the radio, newspapers and the BBC;
They felt that street art would not increase the incidence of
graffiti. Since doing projects around town, there had been no
vandalism of the artwork, and very little increase in graffiti in the
town;
No Council funding would be needed for a legal street art wall –
all that was required was a wall on which to do the artwork;
The organisers would keep the wall tidy and were happy to
maintain the area if any offensive material appeared on it.
However, it was felt that the artwork would not be defaced;
There was a large amount of public support for the proposal;
Graffiti artists were looking for a site where they could legally
express themselves
Karl and Adam were happy to share pictures of work they had
undertaken, and much of it was available to view on FaceBook;

Following the presentation, Council members considered the
information, and the following points were made:
•
•

Members congratulated Karl and Adam on their presentation to
Council.
The Leader commented that if the Authority was to provide a
Council-owned wall to the individuals, it would have to be done
with a certain amount of governance around it to ensure there

Page 10

- 41 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

•
•

•

•

•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•

were no issues further down the line. He had spoken with the
Chairman of the Policy Development Panel and suggested that
the issue be considered by a sub-committee of the Panel. Issues
to be considered would be how the space was managed, criteria,
who could use it and where. The Panel was not due to meet
again until after Christmas however, a special meeting would be
set up to start the process off. After the Panel had considered
the issues, the ultimate decision would be made by the Cabinet.
It was important for the potential wall to be an asset to the town,
and that it was not vandalised.
Councillors Carter and Worth had met Karl and Adam and this
had been a very positive experience. They wanted to work with
the Authority to find out what was required, and then interpret this
into their work. The Councillors were willing to assist with regard
to Holbeach.
People would have different opinions on art however, it was
generally felt that this work was positive. Some street art in
Peterborough had raised the profile of mental health, and the
tribute to Captain Sir Tom Moore in Spalding had been well
received and improved a run-down area.
Councillor Newton commented that when she had been first
aware of the petition, she had suggested that the Monkshouse
Pavilion could be a suitable place for this artwork. This
suggestion had been declined but she agreed that it was
important for more detailed consideration to be given to the
proposal – there could be many positive outcomes to it.
Members agreed that the artists were very talented.
There needed to be some control over the content on the
proposed wall, and this could be considered as part of the work
of the Policy Development Panel.
Within East Lindsey and Boston areas, there were some
examples of art work near the train station – it had not been
defaced and looked positive. It was felt that if the work was
good, it would not be defaced. It was encouraging to hear that
the artists were happy to take responsibility for the wall.
Councillor Taylor had spoken with Karl in the summer regarding
ideas for his ward. They were talented artists, and it would be
good for the Authority to work together with them.
Members questioned whether this group of individuals would be
the only ones entitled to work on the wall, or could other
individuals contribute, and would content be shared before being
added to the wall? It was felt that this was an area for the Policy
Development Panel to consider as part of its deliberations.
It was a good idea to use this type of art to tidy up untidy areas.
Could consideration be given to using the skate park in Spalding
for this type of artwork, in an effort to address graffiti issues?
The Chairman of the Policy Development Panel confirmed that

Page 11

- 42 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

•

he was happy for this piece of work to come through the Panel, to
ensure that it was dealt with correctly.
The work had brightened up some areas that were more run
down and had created a destination in some cases. It was
important that the town was able to flourish and to be kept safer –
if taken forward correctly, this would be a positive move forward.

Members supported the proposal made by Councillor Porter, that the
issue be considered by a sub-committee of the Policy Development
Panel.
DECISION:
That a special meeting of the Policy Development Panel be
organised in order to consider membership of a sub-committee to
look at the potential creation of a street art wall, and issues to be
addressed. Potential issues raised for consideration included:
•
•

•
61.

Governance around the operation of the street art wall;
How the space could be managed, to include – who could
contribute to the artwork on the wall; content of the artwork; who
would be responsible for maintaining the wall should it be
defaced, and to keep it in a good state;
Potential locations

REPORT FROM CABINET MEETING ON 26 OCTOBER 2021
Consideration was given to the report of Cabinet which sought
approval for the Cabinet’s recommendations in respect of the HRA
Housing Delivery Framework. The report introduced a HRA Housing
Delivery Framework to inform future investment decisions for the
HRA Capital Programme relating to housing development.
The report was presented to the Council by the Portfolio Holder for
HRA and Private Sector Housing.
The following point was made:
•

At section 6.6.3 or the report, second item in the table ‘Do we
have the appropriate skillset in-house to deliver the range of
different housing delivery models’ – was this statement presently
correct and if not, what action did the Authority intend to take?
o The Head of Delivery advised that, when the report had
been written, the appropriate staff had been available.
Since then, the Housing Development Programme
Manager had left her post. A recruitment process to fill
this role was currently underway and, once this role was
filled, the authority would again have the skill set required.

Page 12

- 43 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

DECISION:
1) That the HRA Housing Delivery Framework, at Appendix A to the
report, which informs and guides future Executive decisions for
the HRA Capital Programme for housing development, be
approved;
2) That the HRA Housing Delivery Framework be included as a
local choice policy in the Council’s Policy Framework and that the
Constitution, at Article 4.3 be amended accordingly; and
3) That the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and
S151 be granted delegated authority, in consultation with the
relevant Portfolio Holder, to negotiate, approve, enter into and
sign grant agreements relating to grant allocations which have
been approved by Council, Cabinet or Portfolio Holder relating to
the delivery of homes for the HRA.
62.

GAMBLING ACT POLICY (STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Public Protection, which requested approval of the draft revised
Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles).
DECISION:
That the revised Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles), as
shown at Appendix A to the report, be approved and adopted.

63.

DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder –
Corporate and Communications, and the Assistant Director –
Governance, and Monitoring Officer, which requested members
consider an amended delegation to officers relating to the
determination of planning applications.
DECISION:
1) That the amended officer delegation detailed in Appendix B to
the report be approved with immediate effect;
2) That the Constitution be amended accordingly;
3) That the Head of Planning be authorised, in consultation with the
Leader, to re-apply the previous officer protocol/delegation (i.e.
the protocol/delegation that applied from 13 May 2020 to 24

Page 13

- 44 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

November 2021) if at any time legal restrictions made it
impossible to hold both physical and virtual meetings of the
Planning Committee due to Covid, such protocol/delegation to
extend up to and including the date on which the agenda for the
physical or virtual meeting was issued; and
4) That the above delegation to the Head of Planning be applied as
often as may be necessary.
64.

POLITICAL GROUP REGULATIONS
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive
– Corporate Development and Section 151 Officer, which asked
members to confirm, in accordance with the Local Government
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, amended
Political Balance calculations.
On 1 October 2021, Councillor Bingham joined the Conservative
Group, and a review of political group seats was therefore required
to be undertaken as soon as practicable.
Calculations for allocation of appointments for the Conservative
Group, Independent Group and non-aligned were detailed within the
report, the main points being as follows:
Calculation of total allocation of seats across all committees and
sub-committees to which the Political Regulations applied, provided:
•

•
•

•

The Conservative Group was entitled to 60 seats. The
calculation of seat allocations at individual committee level
resulted in a figure of 61, due to rounding up and rounding down.
However, the overall calculation (of 60 seats) had to take
precedence;
The Independent Group was entitled to 30 seats. This figure was
consistent with the calculation of allocation of seats at individual
committee level;
Two seats remained unallocated after the Conservative Group
and Independent Group allocations. Under Regulation 16(3),
these ‘spare’ seats are allocated to non-aligned members (i.e.
Councillor McLean). At the individual committee level, the
calculation resulted in the non-aligned member being entitled to
only one seat. However, the overall calculation (of 2 seats) had
to take precedence;
As a result of the above, it would be necessary to allocate one
Conservative seat (as calculated at committee level) to the nonaligned member.

Political Group calculations were included in Appendix A to the

Page 14

- 45 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

report, and are detailed below:
Political
Balance
Conservative
Independent
Non-aligned
Totals

COMMITT
EE

Members
24
12
1
37

%

Allocated
Seats
60
30
2 remaining
92

64.864
32.432

NUMBER SEAT
OF
ENTITLEME
SEATS
NT
CONSERVA
TIVE
15
Cons 9.729
(10)
16
Cons 10.378
(10)

SEAT
ENTITLEM
ENT
INDEPEND
ENT
Ind 4.864%
(5)
Ind 5.189
(5)

REMAINI
NG NONALIGNED

Planning

15
15

Ind 4.864%
(5)
Ind 4.864%
(5)
Ind 4.864%
(5)

0

Licensing
Committee
Committee
of the
Licensing
Authority
Governanc
e* & Audit
Chief
Officer
Employme
nt Panel
Chief
Officer
Employme
nt Appeals
Panel
Shared
Memo of
Agreement
Panel
TOTALS

Cons 9.729
(10)
Cons 9.729
(10)
Cons 9.729
(10)

Cons 4.540
(5)
Cons 1.945
(2)

Ind 2.270
(2)
Ind 0.972
(1)

0

3

Cons 1.945
(2)

Ind 0.972
(1)

0

3

Cons 1.945
(2)

Ind 0.972
(1)

0

61**

30

1

PMP
PDP

15

7
3

0
1

0
0

0

*Currently one vacancy seat on Governance and Audit Committee
** Total seat calculations take precedence

Page 15

- 46 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

DECISION:
1) That, subject to (2) below, the Council agree changes to the
political balance of Committees in accordance with Appendix A;
and
2) That as a result of calculations for the allocation of seats for each
Committee and Sub-Committee to which the Political Group
Regulations applied resulting in one more Conservative seat than
the Group was entitled to, one seat (on the Performance
Monitoring Panel), which would otherwise be allocated to the
Conservative Group, be allocated to the non-aligned member.
65.

NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION.
The following Committee changes were reported to Council:
•
•
•
•

Councillor Bingham to replace Councillor King as a member of
the Policy Development Panel;
Councillor Walsh to replace Councillor Seymour as a member of
the Planning Committee;
Councillor Newton to replace Councillor McLean as a member of
the Licensing Committee and the Committee of the Licensing
Authority;
Councillor Bingham to take the vacant position on the
Governance and Audit Committee.

DECISION:
That the following appointments be approved:
•
•
•
•

66.

Councillor Bingham to replace Councillor King as a member of
the Policy Development Panel;
Councillor Walsh to replace Councillor Seymour as a member of
the Planning Committee;
Councillor Newton to replace Councillor McLean as a member of
the Licensing Committee and the Committee of the Licensing
Authority;
Councillor Bingham to take the vacant position on the
Governance and Audit Committee.

HEALTH SCRUTINY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE REPORT
Consideration was given to the report of Councillor Scalese in
respect of Health Scrutiny for Lincolnshire.
DECISION:

Page 16

- 47 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

That the report be noted.
67.

NABMA ANNUAL CONFERENCE AND AGM
Consideration was given to the report of Councillor Newton in
respect of NABMA Annual Conference and AGM.
DECISION:
That the report be noted.

68.

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
(The Joint Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) and
the Deputy Chief Executive (Programme Delivery) and SIRO left the
meeting prior to discussion of this item).
Consideration was given to the report of the Joint Strategic Advisor
which provided the Council with an update on the progress of the
Partnership in conclusion of the Setting the Foundations stage of the
approved business case, and to establish and recommend the key
elements of the Set-Up stage for the Partnership.
Information was included within the report around the proposed
Work Programme, Performance Framework, Financial Opportunities,
Governance Framework and Employment Terms and Conditions
(including pay) for the Integrated Shared Senior Management Team.
It was noted that Boston Council had considered the same report at
its Council meeting on 22 November 2021 and the recommendations
had been agreed unanimously. East Lindsey District Council would
consider the report at its Council meeting on 15 December 2021.
Members considered the information within the report, and the
following points were raised:
•

Members had been advised of savings of £4.65million over 10
years – clarification was sought as to whether this was based on
a particular scale, or upon an average.
o Members were advised that the savings were a
comparison to the cost of the senior management
teams before they were shared, compared with the
projected cost of the Integrated Shared Senior
Management Team inclusive of the items detailed in
the exempt appendix to the agenda. If the proposals
within the report were agreed, £4.65million would be
the total of savings achieved over a 10 year period.

Page 17

- 48 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

•

•

•

Members noted that Appendix A laid out the Strategic
Programme for the Partnership, and Health and Wellbeing/Health
and Leisure offer featured within the priorities. In Section 2 of the
appendix (Corporate Priorities), there were a number of
statements which in member views required modification in order
to make them clearer when clarifying requirements in the future,
and to not prohibit any potential solutions in the future.
o (Page 164 of the agenda pack) - ‘To target leisure
facilities to provide a programme of activities to tackle
obesity and inactivity in South Holland’ – it was
suggested that ‘and to encourage participation therein’
be added to the end of this statement. Although it was
important to provide facilities, it was also necessary to
follow this up by encouraging people to participate.
o (Page 166 of the agenda pack) - ‘To lead the provision
of contracted leisure facilities and explore options for
future delivery to enhance the wellbeing of South
Holland’s communities’ – this statement appeared to
pre-suppose that the Authority would be leading
provision of contracted leisure facilities in the future.
The following wording was suggested - ‘To lead the
provision of contracted leisure facilities and explore all
options to create improved facilities for future delivery
to enhance the wellbeing of South Holland
communities’.
Officers confirmed that, with regard to the Work Programme,
what was being proposed was an opportunity across the
partnership to work much more closely around leisure provision
and health and wellbeing. Each Council would continue to have
its own Corporate Plan, but there would also be the opportunity
to work in partnership towards common priorities and goals.
The Leader requested that the above point be noted, and agreed
that the document for agreement not constrain ambitions in the
future but add to them.

DECISION:
1) That the progress of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils
Partnership since approval by Council on 29 July 2021 be noted;
2) That the Work Programme priorities for the South and East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership for the Set-Up stage, as set out
in Appendix A, be approved;
3) That the Performance Framework and the frequency of
performance reporting to Council for the South and East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, as set out in Appendix B, be

Page 18

- 49 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 November 2021

noted;
4) That the financial opportunities for the MTFS for each partnership
Council to be developed as part of the budgeting setting process
for each Council, as set out in Appendix C, be noted;
5) That the governance framework for the South and East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership and proposals for the scrutiny
of the partnership on an annual basis, be noted; and
6) The employment terms and conditions (including the pay
structure) for the Integrated Shared Senior Management Team
as set out in Appendix D be approved.
69.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE
URGENT
There were none.

70.

RESTRICTED MINUTE
Consideration was given to the restricted minute of the meeting of
Full Council held on 22 September 2021.
Members agreed that there was no requirement to discuss the
content of the restricted minute and there was therefore no need for
the meeting to go into private session.
DECISION:
That the restricted minute be signed as a correct record

(The meeting ended at 7.55 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

KEY DECISION PLAN

Issued – 10 January 2022

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision
is likely to be made, to:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

Page 21

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period from the date of publication of
any decision.
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

1

Agenda Item 9.

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Portfolio Holder
for
Environmental
Services
(Councillor
Roger GambbaJones)

To provide details of the
preferred supplier for the
fuel required for South
Holland District Council
fleet vehicles

Portfolio Holder

To endorse the decision
of Welland Homes
Board in accordance
with the Welland Homes
Dividend and Charitable
Donations policy

Consultation with Welland
Homes Board, Leader of
the Council and S151
Officer

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services, or
Leader

Charlotte Paine,
Head of
Environmental
and Operational
Services
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk

Not before 10th Jan 2022

Procurement of
Fuel Supplier

Page 22

Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)
Dividend or
charitable
donation
payment by
Welland Homes

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Not before 20th Jan 2022

To seek views on the
appropriate profit
distribution via email and
meetings.

2

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)
SHDC Land
Sites Project

Page 23

Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)
SHDC Land
Sites Project

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

To appoint a consultant
to provide Architectural
Services to progress a
number of land assets
owned by SHDC, to
explore the potential to
provide housing for the
district.

Housing Delivery Steering
Group (Cllrs Coupland,
Grocock, Lawton)

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Assistant Director Strategic Growth and
Development, or any other
officer with delegation

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery,
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

To appoint a consultant
to provide Employer's
Agent Services to
progress a number of
land assets owned by
SHDC to explore the
potential to provide
housing for the district.

Housing Delivery Steering
Group (Cllrs Coupland,
Grocock, Lawton)

Before 31 Jan 2022

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Assistant Director Strategic Growth and
Development, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 31 Jan 2022

3

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery,
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)

PURPOSE OF
DECISION
Acquisition of a second
hand property.

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

Ward Members and
Housing Delivery Steering
Group (Cllrs Coupland,
Grocock, Lawton)

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

Ward Members and
Housing Delivery Steering
Group (Cllrs Coupland,
Grocock, Lawton)

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Before 31 Jan 2022

Page 24

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (A)
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)

Acquisition of property

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 31 Jan 2022

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (E)

4

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)

PURPOSE OF
DECISION
Acquisition of property

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

Ward Members and
Housing Delivery Steering
Group (Cllrs Coupland,
Grocock, Lawton)

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

Before 31 Jan 2022

Page 25

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery (F)
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning
(Councillor
Rodney
Grocock)
Contract
amendment

SHDC is in contract with Portfolio Holder
Loosegate
Developments for the
delivery of 19 affordable
homes at Wignals Gate,
Holbeach. This decision
relates to an amendment
to the existing
agreement to enable
seven units in phase 2 of
the contract to be
delivered.

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Not before 7th Feb 2022

5

Caroline Hannon,
Head of Delivery,
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing
(Councillor
Christine J
Lawton)

PURPOSE OF
DECISION
Fire door replacement
and associated fire
compliance works to
sheltered schemes

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

Portfolio Holder

Report and any
relevant
appendices

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Assistant Director –
Housing, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 28 Feb 2022

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION
Darren Tyrie,
Projects
Surveyor
dtyrie@sholland.
gov.uk

Fire door and
Compliance
contract

Page 26

Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing
(Councillor
Christine J
Lawton)

To set out the
Lincolnshire
Discretionary Housing
Assistance Policy.

Lincolnshire Housing,
Health and Care Delivery
Group, Portfolio Holder
and Policy Development
Panel

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Lincolnshire
Discretionary
Housing
Assistance
Policy

*Cabinet Membership
6

Cabinet 26 Apr 2022, or
Leader

Stuart Horton,
Service Manager
– Affordable and
Accessible
Homes,
Stuart.Horton@b
oston.gov.uk

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader of the Cabinet)
Councillor J Astill (Portfolio Holder
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor E Sneath (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

Page 27

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 19 January 2022

SUBJECT:

Report from Cabinet meeting on 14 December 2021

PURPOSE:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
a) Garden Waste Scheme Update – To provide an update on the
garden waste scheme and consider future options (Cabinet
minute 27) (Cabinet agenda item 7);
b) Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 – To seek Cabinet
decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 Local Council
Tax Support scheme, to be presented to Council for approval on
19 January 2022 (Cabinet minute 32) (Cabinet agenda item 12);
c) 2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2 – To provide information on
the Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) financial position of the
Council (Cabinet minute 33) (Cabinet agenda item 13)

KEY DECISION:

No

PORTFOLIO HOLDERs:

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services,
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships

REPORT OF:

Cabinet

REPORT AUTHOR:

Christine Morgan

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

N/A

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
This report provides Members of the Council with detail on issues considered by the Cabinet at
its meeting on 14 December 2021, which require decisions by Full Council. Relevant extracts
from the Cabinet minutes are detailed at Sections 2, 3 and 4 below, and the relevant Cabinet
reports and appendices and attached as appendices to this report.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Garden Waste Scheme Update
1) That the current establishment is increased by 3 full time posts, a full-time supervisor, fulltime garden waste HGV driver and full-time garden waste loader and that the costs for these
posts be funded from the income generated by the scheme;
2) That, should the review of terms and conditions of the garden waste scheme prove it
necessary, a consultation with staff commence to consider changing start times for garden
waste crews to 6am; and

Page 29

3) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder of Environmental Services, to implement the outcome
of that consultation;
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23
4) The continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line
with DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2022/23;
5) The introduction of a provision in the scheme for discretion to disregard national schemes
introduced during a financial year in the calculation of Council Tax Support; and
6) Delegation to the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 Officer, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Partnerships and Commercialisation, to
approve the final 2022/23 scheme in line with this report, and any administrative and minor
changes;
2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2
7) To approve adjustments to the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital
programme as set in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A (to the original Cabinet report attached)

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The reasons for recommendation are detailed within the individual reports attached, and are
summarised in the relevant Cabinet minute below.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Other Options considered are detailed within the individual reports attached, and are
summarised in the relevant Cabinet minute below.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and
adopting or changing the Constitution. Staffing matters are also a Council function. The
Cabinet however has responsibility for advising the Council on such matters. At its meeting
on 14 December 2021, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect of the
above items which may affect budget and policy framework, constitution or comprise
staffing issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as
appendices.

2.

GARDEN WASTE SCHEME UPDATE
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 7 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental and
Operational Services, and the Assistant Director – Neighbourhoods, which provided an
update on the garden waste scheme and considered future options.
DECISION:
That, subject to Council approval of recommendations 7 to 9:

Page 30

1) The contents of the report and the update on the garden waste scheme so far be noted;

2) That approval be given for the Garden Waste Collection Scheme to be further extended
to incorporate more areas of South Holland by way of three collection vehicles;
3) That approval be given to procure route optimisation software to ensure the most efficient
and effective routes and for it to be added to Capital and Revenue budgets;
4) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental and Operational
Services, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, to amend the
terms and conditions for subscribers as necessary, including start times;
5) That in accordance with the legal requirement of the Environment Act 2021, the purple
sack garden waste collection service be removed to ensure that SHDC are compliant with
the requirement for separate collection of garden waste, which must be recycled or
composted;
6) That approval be given to purchase an additional 5,040 bins for the expansion being a
£29,000 capital investment in 2021/22, funded from the Investment and Growth reserve.
The remaining costs to be built into the capital budget for 2022/23 and paid back over 15
years through contributions to reserves;
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing – This would mean that the scheme remained at capacity and no further
residents would be able to join, resulting in continued growth of the register of interest
and potentially increased frustration from those seeking to access the service.
Reasons for decision:
• The service could be provided to more residents of SHDC. The service was well liked
and often challenged as to why it was not available to more residents - this would enable
that additional capacity;
• This growth would provide an improved customer satisfaction and reduce the list of
people on the Register of Interest, waiting for a subscription;
• The service was discretionary, and its growth would ensure it remained cost effective
and commercially viable and would continue to be developed with this in mind;
• Increased household recycling rate and reduction of garden waste sent for residual
disposal. Therefore, improved opportunity to dispose of waste in a more environmentally
beneficial way, as set out in the waste hierarchy;
• Compliance with the Environment Act 2021 regarding disposal of garden waste;
• Improved consistency for the garden waste collection service that could be offered to
residents;
• Additional job opportunities for the local economy; and
• More efficient and cost-effective routing to ensure no service disruption and economical
collections as the seasons change).
3.

LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2022/23
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 12 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation
and Partnerships, and the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151
Officer, which sought a Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 scheme, to
be presented to Council for approval on 19 January 2022.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
1) That the current Local Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with
DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2022/23, be
continued;
2) That a provision in the scheme be introduced for discretion to disregard national schemes
introduced during a financial year in the
calculation
Page
31 of Council Tax Support; and

3) That delegation be given to the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and
S151 Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Partnership and
Commercialisation to approve the 2022/23 final scheme, in line with this report, and any
administrative and minor changes.
(Other options considered:
• No alternative options were proposed. Any other changes to the scheme would require
consultation.
Reasons for decision:
• To provide continuity for working age claimants, maintaining current levels of support).
4.

2021/22 FINANCIAL REPORT QUARTER 2
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 13 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation
and Partnerships and the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151
Officer, which provided information on the Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) financial
position of the Council.
The following issues were raised:
•

In relation to savings targets, members questioned whether there were any other
savings that could be made. Officers responded that this information was currently being
drawn together for the Q3 Financial Report, and that there would be one very large
saving that would contribute to anticipated savings.

•

The pandemic had affected the Authority quite substantially and assumptions were
therefore being made very carefully.

•

Members questioned whether VAT had to be paid on Public Conveniences – this issue
had been raised some time ago but there had not been clarity at the time. Officer
responded that legislation had been passed earlier in the year with regard to business
rates being paid on Public Conveniences – VAT was no longer payable on them
however, it was from a specific date and there was therefore no rebate.

DECISION:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted;
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted; and
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted as
set out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A;
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
• To provide timely information to members on the overall financial position of the
Council).
APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Garden Waste Scheme update report

Page 32

APPENDIX B
APPENDIX C
APPENDIX D
APPENDIX E

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 covering
report
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 (Appendix A
to original Cabinet report)
2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2 covering report
2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2 (Appendix A to original
Cabinet report)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
Name of body

Date

Cabinet

14 December 2021

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Christine Morgan
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

The individual reports have previously been signed
off by the relevant Directors and Portfolio Holders

Approved for publication:

As above

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services and Assistant Director Neighbourhoods

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 14 December 2021
Council Wednesday, 19 January 2022

(Author:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services)

Subject

Garden Waste Scheme Update

Purpose:

To provide an update on the garden waste scheme and consider future
options

Recommendations to Cabinet:
That, subject to Council approval of recommendations 7 to 9 below
1) the contents of this report and the update on the garden waste scheme so far are noted.
2) approval is given for the Garden Waste Collection Scheme to be further extended to
incorporate more areas of South Holland by way of three collection vehicles.
3) approval is given to procure route optimisation software to ensure the most efficient and
effective routes and for it to be added to Capital and Revenue budgets.
4) delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental & Operational Services, in
consultation with the portfolio holder for Environmental Services, to amend the terms and
conditions for subscribers as necessary, including start times.
5) in accordance with the legal requirement of the Environment Act 2021, the purple sack
garden waste collection service is removed to ensure that SHDC are compliant with the
requirement for separate collection of garden waste, which must be recycled or composted.
6) approval is given to purchase an additional 5,040 bins for the expansion being a £29,000
capital investment in 2021/22, funded from the Investment and Growth reserve. The
remaining costs to be built into the capital budget for 2022/23 and paid back over 15 years
through contributions to reserves.
Recommendations to Council:
7) That the current establishment is increased by 3 full time posts, a full-time supervisor, fulltime garden waste HGV driver and full-time garden waste loader and that the costs for these
posts be funded from the income generated by the scheme.
8) That, should the review of terms and conditions of the garden waste scheme prove it
necessary, a consultation with staff commence to consider changing start times for garden
waste crews to 6am.

Page 35

9) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in
consultation with the Portfolio holder of Environmental Services, to implement the outcome
of that consultation.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The garden waste collection scheme commenced in April 2016, following agreement from
Full Council in November 2015. This introduced a separate garden waste collection for
eligible residents of South Holland, within the pilot area. The initial pilot introduced one
refuse collection vehicle, with aspirations of reaching 5,000 subscribers.

1.2

In January 2018, Full Council agreed to the expansion of the scheme to a second truck.
This report projected 6,800 subscribers in 2021/22 and provision of the scheme to more
areas of the district.

1.3

Since the addition of the second truck, popularity and growth of the scheme has continued.
In 2020, a project group was set up within Environmental Services to increase subscriber
numbers through a targeted weekly roll out of bins. This project was looking to achieve a
capacity of 10,000 subscribers by the end of 2022/23.

1.4

The chart below shows the uptake of subscribers since the start of the scheme and its
progressive growth of new customers through new sign ups, as well as maintaining its
customer base through yearly renewals. As you can see, we are on track to reach our
10,000 target ahead of our original timeframe and aim to achieve this by the end of this
financial year.

Garden Waste Subscription Numbers
12000
10000
8000
6494

6000
4000
3562

4802

6035

2862

2000
2889
0
2016

772

1432

1359

2017

2018

2019

Additional Bin

Year
Total Subscribers

2016
2952

New Sign Up

2017
3671

751
2020

3110
2021

Yearly Renewal

2018
5018

Page 36

2019
6214

2020
6790

2021
9604

1.5

The success of the current project means that the scheme will be at full capacity for the two
trucks and 20 routes we currently run. Therefore, to continue to provide this much valued
service to more residents, we need to expand to another truck which would provide
capacity for another 5,000 subscribers over a further 10 routes per fortnight.

1.6

The timing of an expansion at this point would be appropriate due to the purchase of
replacement vehicles for the current garden waste fleet. In October 2021, an officer
decision was published for the purchase of two Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) as part
of the current capital budget. These new vehicles will be delivered in April/May 2022 and
replace two 2014 vehicles. It is proposed that the older vehicles would be kept, enabling
delivery of the expansion by providing vehicles to cover servicing and repair downtime,
without the additional cost of purchasing more RCVs.

1.7

Extending to 15,000 subscribers will require a review of the current routes, which are
already particularly heavy in the peak of the growing season, as a result of our growth
project this year. With the expansion to a further truck, it is recommended that a
comprehensive review of the routes, using a route optimisation software, is undertaken to
enable the service to be offered across the district. The cost for the software is estimated to
be in the region of £40,000, with ongoing annual costs around £12,000. The software will
be purchased in 2021/22 and funded from the income generated by the scheme.

1.8

By utilising routing software, the effectiveness and efficiency of the current routes and
expansion will be reviewed to make sure that they can maintain excellent service delivery
and maximise the capacity available. A well built route allows for maximum subscribers and
sufficient tipping time to ensure delivery of the service throughout the year, including during
the growing season.

1.9

In addition to efficient routes, we also require the right resource to ensure ongoing excellent
service delivery to customers. To expand, we will require several new staff to support the
project and ongoing service, both fixed term and permanent. Since the commencement of
the targeted project in 2020, there has been a secondment of a supervisor within
Environmental Services, to assist with the growth of the service. This has been a key part
of the success of that project and will inform the delivery of the proposed service
expansion.

1.10

It is therefore recommended that a permanent additional supervisor post is created to
support the expansion, including the new routes with the routing software, developing the
areas for growth in the District, advertising the service to these areas, and ensuring
compliance with health and safety. The post will support the new and existing crews and
targeted bin delivery roll out, as well as supporting the current supervisors to provide
additional depth to the service with cover and knowledge sharing across all supervisors.
This post would be required immediately to support the development of the expansion and
ensure that it can be made available to residents as soon as possible.

1.11

In addition, there is a requirement for an additional crew of one driver and one loader to
fulfil the third truck. These would also be permanent increases to the establishment, they
would not be required to start their employment until the 2022/23 financial year.

1.12

Further to this, there would need to be a dedicated resource to deliver the bins to new
subscribers. This would be a short-term requirement and therefore is recommended that a
bin delivery operative is required for one year, starting in March/April 2021, alongside the

Page 37

hire of a 7.5 tonne vehicle. This fixed term post will be achieved using the delegated
authority given to chief officers. The role will ensure that bins can be delivered efficiently
and within the agreed timescale of 10 days for new subscribers.
1.13

Effective marketing to attract and sign-up new subscribers is key to achieving the aspiration
of 15,000. The communications team are working with a subgroup from environmental
services, to plan the best advertising and marketing approach, should approval be gained.
One of the key aspects of this will be to utilise the current Register of Interest (ROI). The
ROI has been in use since the inception of garden waste, it was used to allow people who
were not in the original pilot area to register their interest for the scheme and assist with
targeted growth. It has also been utilised when routes have reached capacity so that
residents can register their interest to be contacted when space becomes available. There
are currently around 2,000 people on the ROI.

1.14

The proposal would be to continue to utilise the ROI and to advertise early, after Council
approval, for anyone across the District to register their interest for a garden waste
subscription. With this data we can then look to open the routes to as many areas in South
Holland that would like a bin, including new areas, so long as they are commercially viable,
based on level of interest. This data would be key to building the routes with the new
software and providing the service much wider geographically than it has been before.

1.15

A key element of using and managing the ROI will be to understand the time that people
have been on the list and prioritising this, alongside areas to include in expansion. Contact
has been made with everyone registered prior to 2021 and we continue to work from the
register as we roll out to our 10,000 subscriber target. Communication with interested
residents will be key, to ensure we appropriately explain our project plan and timeframes.
Without this, there is a risk of people becoming frustrated if they are expecting to start their
subscription immediately.

1.16

To enable the expansion to occur, the purchase of additional bins will be required. In total
there will need to be 5,000, plus any ongoing attrition for the older bins. Due to a lack of
space to store the bins, it is necessary to buy these in batches. The proposal is to purchase
a load in late 2021/22 ready for the start of the expansion and then ongoing throughout the
project. Bins are purchased via capital funding and therefore an additional £86,688 in total
will be required. £28,869 is requested for the current financial year from reserves, with the
rest being built into the capital budget for 2022/23 and these costs paid back from income
received by the scheme.

1.17

In both the reports that have come to Council previously, there has been reference to the
purple (originally grey) sacks that areas outside of the garden waste scheme have been
able to purchase for disposal of garden waste.

1.18

By opening up the garden waste scheme to more areas in South Holland, we recommend
that, as with the other reports, the purple sack collection for the disposal of garden waste is
withdrawn. This collection impacts negatively on our recycling rates and does not meet the
requirements of new legislation. This recommendation is made in line with previous policy
decisions on the garden waste scheme and also as a result of the Environment Act 2021,
which states that garden waste must be collected separately and composted. The Act, in
section 45A, sets out that garden waste is a ‘recyclable waste’ and that

Page 38

45A(3)… “recyclable household waste must be collected separately from other
household waste.”
45A(4)…”recyclable household waste must be collected for recycling or
composting”
1.19

Other available disposal routes for green waste are the Household Waste Recycling
Centres at Boston and Spalding. Alternatively, there is an option for residents to purchase
home composters at a reduced price. Further information on these options is on the
Council’s website - https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5843/Recycling-composters

1.20

When the scheme was first created, a set of Terms and Conditions were written and
subscribers agree to these at sign up. The T&Cs have not been reviewed recently and
therefore, as part of the expansion we will review these to ensure they are fit for purpose
for a bigger scheme. One area that we may wish to consider changing is the collection start
time. Currently T&Cs require subscribers to have their bin out for 7am. With bigger routes,
it may be more appropriate to change this to 6am. Should this be considered appropriate,
as a result of the T&C review and routes being optimised, this would require consultation
with staff and appropriate engagement with subscribers before changing.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Option One – Expand the garden waste scheme as set out in the report and the
recommendations. This will result in a further 5,000 subscriber capacity that will be
released in a targeted approach using the register of interest. This will also enable the
scheme to reach more areas across the District, increase the amount of garden waste
composted, and increase satisfaction for our residents. This is the recommended option of
this report.

2.2

Option Two – Do nothing. This will mean that the scheme remains at capacity and no
further residents will be able to join, resulting in continued growth of the register of interest
and potentially increased frustration from those seeking to access the service.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

There are a number of recommendations as part of this report, each of them are set out
with the aim of expanding a valued and in demand service to more SHDC residents. They
will enable the expansion of an efficient and effective discretionary service, in a
commercially minded way, to ensure that the original ethos of providing a self-funding
service that is not a cost to taxpayers that have not accessed the service, remains.

3.2

Furthermore, the recommendations each have a key role in delivering the expansion and
the reasons for each of these are set out below.

3.3

Route Software –
•
•

3.4

As detailed in points 1.7 and 1.8, the software will enable the service to maximise
routes and ensure efficiency.
Effective routes will mean that service can be maintained throughout the year
without disruption due to uneven routes and weights.

Review of terms and conditions –

Page 39

•
•
•

3.5

Purchasing of Additional Bins –
•
•

3.6

To enable the expansion to an additional 5,000 subscribers.
We have worked closely with our current supplier on bin quality and ongoing
durability so that bins can have a longer life.

Additional Staffing –
•

•

•
•

3.7

To ensure that the T&Cs are appropriate for a bigger service.
Support staff to provide an excellent service to our residents.
To ensure our residents are aware of what the service can offer and what should be
expected.

To enable the expansion, additional staff will utilise the lessons learnt from previous
projects and expansions of garden waste so that the expansion can happen
smoothly and be effectively communicated with new and existing customers.
A dedicated supervisor resource will ensure that the garden waste scheme can run
in a commercially minded way to maximise growth and viability so we can provide
an excellent service to our customers.
An additional crew will be required to run the third truck and deliver the expansion.
A fixed term post for bin deliveries will ensure our new customers receive their bins
within the agreed timeframe and keep the roll out of the project on track to maximise
growth in year one.

Ceasing the provision of purple sacks –
•

•

•

To ensure that SHDC are compliant with the requirements of the Environment Act
when collecting and disposing of a material that should be composted for best
environmental impact reduction.
The growth of the service to a third truck will provide more opportunity for the
scheme to be accessible to a much wider geographical area and therefore remove
the need for purple sacks.
Other options are available such as the HWRC and home composting.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

As a result of the expansion and the recommendations outlined, the following benefits are
expected:
•

•
•
•

The service can be provided to more residents of SHDC. The service is well
liked and often challenged as to why it is not available to more residents, this will
enable that additional capacity.
This growth will provide an improved customer satisfaction and reduce the list of
people on the ROI waiting for a subscription.
The service is discretionary, and its growth will ensure it remains cost effective
and commercially viable and will continue to be developed with this in mind.
Increased household recycling rate and reduction of garden waste sent for
residual disposal. Therefore, improved opportunity to dispose of waste in a more
environmentally beneficial way, as set out in the waste hierarchy.

Page 40

•
•
•
•

5.0

Compliance with the Environment Act 2021 regarding disposal of garden waste.
Improved consistency for the garden waste collection service that can be offered
to residents.
Additional job opportunities for the local economy.
More efficient and cost-effective routing to ensure no service disruption and
economical collections as the seasons change.

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

Garden waste that is not disposed of using an organics treatment methodology can create
more greenhouse gases. Therefore, the waste hierarchy promotes the disposal of garden
waste by way of either composting or Anaerobic Digestion (AD). The SHDC garden waste
collection scheme enables the disposal of waste by composting. Ensuring that garden
waste is treated in the more environmentally friendly way means that we can assist with the
reduction of greenhouse gases as a result of appropriate disposal of this type of waste.

5.1.2

Residents will continue to have the opportunity to compost at home, which can be an even
more environmentally friendly option, or take their waste to their local Household Waste
Recycling Centre.

5.2

Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1

Collection and charging of garden waste is undertaken in line with Section 45 of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in conjunction with Paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 of the
Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012. The garden waste scheme is not
established to make a profit, it introduces a ‘reasonable charge’, as set out in section 45 of
the EPA 1990, and any surplus used to defray costs within Environmental Services.
•

•
•

5.2.2

Section 45(3) of EPA 1990 provides that “no charge shall be made for the collection
of household waste except in cases prescribed in regulations made by the
Secretary of State.”
Section 45(3)(b) of EPA 1990 provides that “the authority may recover a reasonable
charge for the collection of the waste from the person who made the request.”
Paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the Controlled Waste (England and Wales)
Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/811), as amended, provides for these exceptions in
which it includes garden waste.

In addition to the environmental benefits of the scheme, and its effective management of
the organics waste, the new Environment Act 2021 also sets into law the requirement to
collect recyclable waste, which garden waste is listed to be, separately for recycling or

Page 41

composting. Therefore, the removal of the purple sack collections with residual waste is
recommended to be complaint with the law.
5.2.3

The Resources & Waste Strategy of 2018 set out the desire of government to explore
whether households with gardens should have access to free garden waste collections.
There have been two consultations since the release of the strategy, but the government
are yet to confirm if they will proceed with the proposal. In the absence of a decision on
this, the recommendation remains to expand, and consideration has been given to the
potential impacts of expanding at this point. It is considered that the benefits in this report
support the continuation of the proposal to expand.

5.2.4

The addition of a temporary resource to deliver bins is set out in 1.12. The authority to
increase the staffing establishment by the addition of a temporary fixed term post is set out
in the constitution and is exercisable by chief officers in consultation with the s151 officer.
Therefore, subject to the approval of the recommendations of this report, the fixed term
post and hire of a 7.5t vehicle for one year to deliver the bins to new subscribers, will be
implemented using this delegation. The costs will be funded from the income generated by
the scheme.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

The purchase of the new bins for the expansion, as with the previous purchases of bins
made in recent months, will be made following procurement rules and in conjunction with
the procurement team. The current suppliers are on the ESPO framework for Refuse and
Recycling Products and offer the best call-off prices in comparison to their competitors.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The corporate plan states that the ambition of SHDC is to deliver cost-effective core
services that are valued by the community. The expansion represents this by providing a
valued service to more of our residents whilst ensuring the service remains cost-effective.

5.5

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1

SHDC is committed to promoting equality and participation in all services. As a public
authority we are also required to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations when making decisions and
developing policies. To do this, to understand the potential impacts of the provision of this
service, an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) will be undertaken to understand its impact
on different groups of people.

5.5.2

For the garden waste scheme, as with refuse and recycling, SHDC offer assisted
collections for those who require additional support. Signing up for garden waste is offered
digitally with assisted support for those who are unable to access online services, through
our customer contact team. The impact of the proposed removal of purple sacks, as
required due to the Environment Act 2021, is mitigated by the expansion of the garden
waste scheme across the district alongside free access to the HWRC’s.

5.5.3

The register of interest is used to capture details of those interested in joining the scheme,
people are then contacted in a targeted approach to keep the service expanding without

Page 42

becoming overwhelmed. This is mainly considered by the length of time on the register as
well as by area and capacity of routes.
5.5.4

Residents who would like to dispose of their garden waste outside of the scheme can still
access the County’s Household Waste Recycling Centres for free.

5.6

Financial

5.6.1

The expansion aims to increase our subscription capacity from 10,000 to 15,000. The table
below shows costs for current operations at 10,000 subscribers and models the costs for
an additional truck, including additional staffing and income, which looks to be achieved by
the expansion.

Operating
Costs

Current
10,000
Ongoing
Yearly

10,000 subs
Additional Info
Includes employee costs,
transport fees,
advertising and
maintenance of vehicles
Income for 10,000
subscribers, 80% at £52
and 20% second bins at
£30

Expansion
5,000
Ongoing
Yearly

Direct Costs

£218,325

Income

-£476,650

Contribution
to Reserves

£100,000

Contributions to reserves
includes vehicles, bins
and future funding

£60,938

-£158,325

Balance after direct
costs, income and
contribution to reserves

-£32,647

Operating
Surplus

Total Indirect
Costs

£91,854

Net Operating
Surplus

-£66,471

5.6.2

£144,415

-£238,000

5,000 subs expansion
Additional Info
Includes routing system,
additional staffing and
additional vehicle running
costs
Income for 5,000
subscribers, 80% at £52
and 20% second bins at
£30
Includes additional
Contribution to Reserves
for additional vehicle and
bins
Balance after expansion
costs, income and
contribution to reserves
(for 5,000 subscribers)

Includes salary recharges,
IT, Comms. Depot Costs
and Depreciation of
Assets
Balance of operating
surplus after indirect
costs - for 10,000
subscribers

The table below shows all the costs and income expected for the service when it has
achieved the full 15,000 subscribers.

Expansion Total (15,000 subs)
Direct Costs

Ongoing
Yearly Additional Info
Includes employee costs, transport fees, advertising
£362,740 and maintenance of vehicles and routing software

Page 43

Income
Contribution to Reserves
Net Operating Surplus
Total Indirect Costs
Total Net Operation Surplus

Income for 15,000 subscribers, 80% at £52 and 20%
-£714,650 second bins at £30
Contributions to reserves includes vehicles, bins and
£160,938 future funding
Balance after direct costs, income and contribution
-£190,972 to reserves
Includes salary recharges, IT, Comms. Depot Costs
£91,854 and Depreciation of Assets
-£99,118 Balance of operating surplus for 15,000 subscribers

5.6.3

The income depicted is based on 80% of subscribers having one bin subscription at £52.
The remaining 20% are secondary bin subscriptions which are charged at £30. This is
based on actual breakdown of subscriptions currently received.

5.6.4

The above tables include all costs that are anticipated as a result of the recommendations
of this report and include contributions to reserves.

5.7

Health & Wellbeing

5.7.1

During the pandemic, there have been reports of many people utilising their free time to
spend in their gardens. Therefore, providing the scheme to more people can help to
support those who have used this leisure activity to support their wellbeing through this
difficult time.

5.8

Reputation

5.8.1

The introduction of the garden waste scheme has been a success with a number of
compliments received throughout the years. Therefore, we can say that the scheme has
been a positive for the reputation of SHDC. The expansion should build on this, however,
we recognise that appropriate and timely communication must be provided throughout the
expansion to limit the risk of those on the register becoming frustrated if they are not able to
subscribe immediately. As a part of this, discussions have already commenced with the
communications team and customer contact.

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

There are risks associated with the expansion and the project, should approval be granted,
will maintain and monitor a risk register to ensure that any risks are mitigated. Some risks
identified so far include:
• Failing to achieve the maximum capacity of subscriber numbers which may mean
the service is less cost effective. This is mitigated by current levels of demand and
resources that will advertise and target areas for additional subscribers.
• Overachieving in marketing for the service creating a higher demand than can be
delivered with three trucks. This will be closely monitored and consideration for any
further expansion requirements measured, should it become necessary.

Page 44

•

•

•

•

•

•

5.10

Failing to appropriately communicate with interested residents and failing to meet
customer expectations. This is mitigated by having regular meetings with the
communications team and customer contact to ensure that we have a clear a
consistent message to residents and customers, both new and existing, throughout
the project.
Insufficiently staffing both the expansion and the ongoing service resulting in service
failure. This is mitigated by using the knowledge and experience of previous roll
outs and expansions and the recommendations in this report to increase the
establishment to accurately resource the bigger service.
Potential to unsuccessfully discuss the project with other interdependent areas,
such as communications, IT, customer contact and external providers. This is
mitigated by having regular meetings with these services and understanding
requirements of time and resource to agree a realistic timeframe for delivery.
Missing the growing season for next year due to delays in the expansion project or
its interdependent services. The effective and ongoing communication with these
areas will be key to avoiding this potential risk.
Incorrectly built routes that create the potential for service failure or cannot achieve
the maximum subscriber numbers. This is mitigated with the recommendation for
the procurement of a routing software that can build efficient and effective routes.
Potential for the government to introduce free garden waste collections to all those
who have gardens. This is monitored closely through the working groups that SHDC
attend to understand the government position on this as it becomes clearer. Should
this be introduced, the expansion will put SHDC in a stronger position as the
scheme will have expanded to more residents, assisting with a potentially higher
demand being created by this policy. In addition to this, the government have
committed to new burdens funding for such a policy change.

Staffing

5.10.1 As detailed in paragraphs 1.9 to 1.12, there is a need for additional staff to support the
successful delivery of an expansion. Therefore, subject to approval of this report, there will
need to be additional recruitment, which will be done in line with SHDC’s policies and
procedures.
5.10.2 The current staff will be involved in the expansion and ensure that their knowledge and
experience is used for the growth of the service. For example, one area that staff have
made us aware of is the potential need to start rounds earlier. This will be considered with
the routing software outcomes and the review of the T&Cs. Should this be proven to be
necessary, then a consultation would be commenced in line with SHDC’s policies and
procedures.
5.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 There are a number of internal and external stakeholders who have already been made
aware of the potential expansion. The success of the expansion will be reliant upon the
ongoing communication between these stakeholders, including new and existing
customers. This will be built into the communications plan of the project.
5.11.2 The aim is for the third truck to be operational by May 2022, however, this is dependent
upon many other influences including:
• Procurement of vehicles, bins and routing software

Page 45

•
•

Interdependent service areas, such as IT, comms and suppliers
Recruitment of staff

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

It is intended that the expansion to a third truck will enable the garden waste scheme to be
available to most areas in South Holland. The use of the ROI will help us to understand the
demand across the district and the commercial viability of delivering the service to all areas.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7

SHDC – South Holland District Council
RCVs - Refuse Collection Vehicles
ROI - Register of Interest
T&Cs - Terms and Conditions
AD - Anaerobic Digestion
HWRC – Household Waste Recycling Centre
Environmental Protection Act 1990 – EPA 1990

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Email:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services
cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

Y
N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Page 46

APPENDIX B
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and Deputy
Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 14 December 2021
South Holland District Council, 19 January 2022

(Author:

Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits)

Subject

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23

Purpose:

For each financial year a billing authority must consider whether to revise its
Local Council Tax Support scheme, or replace it with another scheme. This
report seeks Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 scheme,
to be presented to Council for approval on 19 January 2022.

Recommendations:
1) Cabinet approves, and recommends to Council: a) The continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in
line with DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for
2022/23, and
b) The introduction of a provision in the scheme for discretion to disregard national schemes
introduced during a financial year in the calculation of Council Tax Support.
2) Delegates approval for the 2022/23 final scheme to the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate
Development) & S151 Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Partnerships and Commercialisation in line with this report, and any administrative and minor
changes.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Local Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme replaced the former national Council Tax
Benefit scheme from April 2013.

1.2

Each year the Council is required to consider whether to review its Local CTS scheme. The
Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must approve
a scheme. Regulations include protection for pensioners but allow Councils to make
changes in the way that support is calculated for working age claimants.

1.3

Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it is necessary to consult major preceptors
and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design.

1.4

The current South Holland scheme provides a maximum amount of 70% support for
working age claimants. It protects War Pensioners, and from 2019/20 introduced a new
class for Care Leavers aged 18-21.

Page 47

1.1

A number of changes have been introduced in recent years, summarised below for
information: •
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Second Adult Rebate has been removed (introduced 2017/18)
A minimum level of Council Tax Support at £5 per week (introduced 2017/18)
Non-dependant deductions increased by 10% (introduced 2017/18)
Council Tax Support restricted to Band D Council Tax Liability (introduced 2017/18)
Capital Limit reduced to £8,000 (introduced 2017/18)
Lower capital threshold reduced to £3,000 (introduced 2017/18)
Remove family premium from new claims made (introduced 2017/18)
Backdating reduced to 1 month (introduced 2017/18)
Care Leavers as a class in the scheme (introduced 2019/20)
Universal Credit (UC) claims are automatically classed as claims for CTS, removing
requirement for a separate CTS claim (introduced 2020/21)
UC earnings tolerance rule of £15 per week (£65 month) (introduced 2020/21)
Backdating for working age up to 3 months (reintroduced 2021/22)

2.0

CURRENT SCHEME REVIEW

2.1

At May 2021 the forecasted amount of CTS discount for 2021/22 was £4,438,106, with a
total caseload of 5,287 of which 2,586 (49%) are working age, compared to 2,701 (51%)
pensioners. The working age claimant element costs are approximately £1.8million, with
£453k (10.2%) borne by this council.

2.2

This reflects the increased take up as a result of the COVID-19 impact. It remains difficult
to forecast future caseload with any degree of certainty in the current economic climate.

2.3

The following table shows 2020/21 forecast expenditure and indicates the potential cost to
South Holland District Council, and the other major precepting authorities.

CTS Expenditure
Cost to South Holland District Council (approx. 10.2%)
Cost to Lincolnshire County Council (approx. 75.1%)
Cost to Police and Crime Commissioner (approx. 14.7%)

2021//22 forecast
£4,438,106
£452,686
£3,333,018
£652,402

2.4

The Council Tax net in-year collection rate as a percentage in 2020/21 was 0.72% lower
than the previous year, however over £1.4million more Council Tax was collected in
2020/21. Factors that affect in-year collection include the reduced level of CTS awarded
following changes introduced in the 2017/18 scheme and people’s ability to pay, the roll out
of Universal Credit (UC) and, most significantly for 2020/21 and future years, the impacts
and effects on households due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

3.0

CONSULTATION FOR 2022/23 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

3.1

At its meeting on 7 September 2021, Cabinet approved consultation to be undertaken on a
proposal to continue the current scheme, including updating in line Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) up-ratings for 2022/23.

Page 48

3.2

The consultation exercise ran between 14 September and 3 November 2021.

3.3

Major precepting authorities have been consulted on the proposals.
Lincolnshire County Council has responded confirming it has no comments or objections to
the proposals, however its recommendation for future changes to the scheme would be to
consider alternatives to reduce the demand on the scheme, although they recognise in the
current climate this is a challenge.
The Police and Crime Commissioner noted that no change to the current scheme is
proposed.

3.4

The wider public consultation on the scheme proposals agreed by Cabinet in September
included publicity through local media, website and social media. A total of 16 responses
have been received. This is lower than last year. With such a low response rate it has to
be recognised that the results cannot be relied upon as being wholly representative or
statistically significant.

3.5

High level findings from the 16 consultation responses are summarised below:
•
•
•

3.6

69% agreed that the council should retain the main characteristics of the current Council
Tax Scheme.
56% felt that the current scheme is fair and provides support to those most vulnerable.
63% agreed we should increase the scheme in line with DWP provisions for 2022/23 and
future years.

The full consultation results are shown at Appendix A.

4.

ADMINISTRATION

4.1

Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed in-year, and as such, under the current
scheme, national initiatives introduced by government to support individuals and
households through the covid pandemic, are treated as additional income, which can have
the effect of reducing the level of CTS awarded.

4.2

It is therefore recommended that the CTS scheme is updated to provide discretion to
consider disregarding national initiatives that are introduced in a financial year, with any
decision first being subject to CTS administration and system capability assessment.

4.3

There will be no financial impact for the council or the major precepting authorities to the
overall cost of the scheme however it could have a positive impact on the customer as any
additional income could be disregarded in the calculation of CTS.
Future year schemes could be updated, if appropriate, to include any additional support
initiatives in the calculation of CTS schemes.

5.0

OPTIONS

5.1

Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with
DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2022/23.

5.2

No alternative options are proposed. Any other changes to the scheme would require
consultation.

Page 49

6

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

6.1

The recommendation will continue to align the CTS scheme and uprating for working age
customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit and the CTS scheme for pensioners.
This has been consistent each year since the introduction of local Council Tax Support
schemes.

6.2

The recommendation to introduce discretion to disregard national initiatives introduced in a
financial year, where appropriate, would have no additional financial impact for the scheme,
but it could have a positive impact on the customer.
Future year schemes could be updated, if appropriate, to include any additional support
initiatives in the calculation of CTS schemes.

7

EXPECTED BENEFITS

7.1

This will provide continuity for working age claimants, maintaining current levels of support.

8

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

8.1

Constitutional & Legal

8.1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the framework for localism of Council
Tax Support. The Local CTS scheme for 2022/23 must be approved by Full Council by 11
March 2022. Any change to CTS schemes must be subject to proper process, including
consultation in order to protect the scheme from judicial review.

8.2

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

8.2.1

The existing Local CTS scheme continues the DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme
conventions established over many years, regarding protections for vulnerable groups,
including children, the disabled and war pensioners.

8.2.2

An Equality Impact Assessment is not required at this time.

8.3

Financial

Page 50

8.3.1

The proposal for the 2022/23 CTS scheme is anticipated to be broadly in line with the costs
of the current year scheme, subject to demand. The impacts upon the Council’s budgets
once Council approval has been given, will be included in the 2022/23 Budget and Medium
Term Financial Strategy.

8.3.2

For reference the current 2021/22 CTS scheme expenditure is £4,438,106, of which the
cost to South Holland District Council is around £453k (10.2%).

8.4

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

8.4.1

Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities, the
public and other stakeholders where changes to the scheme are proposed. Consultation
has been carried out, as detailed in Section 3 of this report.

9

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

9.1

All

10

ACRONYMS
COVID
CTS
DWP

Coronovirus Disease
Council Tax Support
Department for Work and Pensions

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

None

Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits
Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Consultation results

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX C

Page 53

Page 54

Page 55

Page 56

APPENDIX D
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and Deputy
Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet 14 December 2021

Author:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance

Subject:

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2

Purpose:

To provide information on the Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) financial
position of the Council.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted.
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted as set
out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.
Recommendation(s) to Council:
4) To approve adjustments to the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital
programme as set in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected
year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on the forecast full
year financial performance at 30 September 2021, in the attached appendix, for the
following areas:
• The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF),
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
• The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
• The Capital Programme for 2021/22 (GF and HRA), and
• The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0

OPTIONS

Page 57

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council
Financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond quickly
to opportunities as they arise.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA,
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with
further detail at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1 Quarter 2 data provides a 6 month’s information on which to base the full year forecast,
however some items are still susceptible to further change.
5.2.2 The full year outturn based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast net service
surplus in the General Fund of (£4k), this does not take into account the efficiency savings
target of £1.676m (efficiency savings achieved so far is £1.095m). Detail of these savings
are listed in Appendix A table 2a.
5.2.3 The forecast outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A – Table 1 together
with an analysis of service variations.
5.2.4 It is extremely difficult to forecast accurately in the current circumstances as services adapt
and recover from the impact of the Covid pandemic and therefore these numbers will
change over the coming months and will continue to be reported to Cabinet each quarter.
5.3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a surplus of £1.896m (budgeted surplus is £1.970m), further detail
is provided at Appendix A - Table 4.

Page 58

5.4

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.4.1

General Fund Specific Reserves are forecasting a decrease of £0.311m from £13.493m to
£13.182m, further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.4.2

In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.

5.4.3

The HRA General Reserve balance is forecasting an overall decrease of £4.177m from
£27.384m to £23.207m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 3.

5.5

Capital – General Fund

5.5.1

The total revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2021/22 as at 30 September 2021 is
£8.076m including year-end adjustment as reported in the 2020/21 Outturn, are detailed in
Appendix A Table 5. Revisions totalling £0.400m are recommended for approval, as
detailed in Appendix A Table 5, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £8.076m.

5.6

Capital – HRA

5.5.2

5.6.1

The total HRA Capital Programme for 2021/22 is £14.984m are detailed in Appendix A
Table 7. Revisions totalling £0.150m are recommended for approval, as detailed in
Appendix A Table 7, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £14.984m.
.

5.7

Treasury Management

5.7.1

Appendix A - Section 2.5 provides details of the Council Treasury Investments. Interest
earned on investments during the year to 30 September 2021 was £76.8k (compared to the
profiled budget of £90.8k), as at 30 September 2021, a total of £51.744m investments were
held by the council. Appendix A Table 8 provides more information on the investments.
The forecast income from investment interest has been set at £182k a reduction of income
of £11k, (General Fund pressure of £10k and HRA pressure of £1k).

6

Other Key Items

6.1

Uncertainty over the Councils future funding sources remain as a result of the Chancellor of
the Exchequers confirmation that the review relating to the percentage of retained Business
Rates have again had to be delayed by Government from the planned implementation in
2021/22 alongside the Fair Funding review.

6.2

As Covid-19 pandemic keeps on having a considerable impact on the Council, our
businesses and our residents. It is difficult to quantify the financial effects of the pandemic
with any certainty, but it is expected to be significant, even after the Government’s
emergency Covid-19 funding is taken into account. This continues to be a major area of
risk looking forward as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Planning and is being

Page 59

closely monitored.
7

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

8

ACRONYMS

8.1

GF
HRA
HRT
RTB
ICT
MTFS

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Housing Repairs Team
Right to Buy
Information and Communications Technology
Medium term Financial Strategy

Background papers:

The 2021/22 Estimates Report to Council 3 March 2021

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance
01775 764684
SKnowles@sholland.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2021/22 with details of the GF and HRA revenue
spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 60

APPENDIX E
APPENDIX A - South Holland District Council – Q2 Finance Report 2021/22
Finance Summary
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The revenue forecast shows a surplus position of (£4k)
In addition to this there is an efficiency savings target of £1.676m and as at 30 September, £1.095m savings
have been achieved, leaving a balance of £581k to find.
The HRA is forecasting a surplus budget of £1.896m.
General Fund Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £13.182m at 31 March 2022.
HRA reserves are forecast to be £23.207m at 31 March 2022.
General Fund Capital spend at the end of Quarter 2 was £1.873m against a full year budget of £8.076m
Capital receipts for the year are forecast to be £1.896m. Total capital resources at the end of 2021/22 are
forecast to be £25.536m.
HRA Capital spend at the end of Quarter 2 was £1.233m against a full year budget of £14.984m
The Council held investments of £51.744m as at 30 September 2021.

Section 2 – Finance
Section 2.1
Section 2.2
Section 2.3
Section 2.4
Section 2.5
Section 2.6
Section 2.7

Key Financial Issues in Quarter 2 of 2021/22
Revenue Budget
Housing Revenue Account Budget
Capital Budget
Treasury Management
Debt Collection
Business Rates and Council Tax Collection

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 2 of 2021/22
•

•

On 29 July, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published a press release to
announce that the Changing Places toilets fund is now open for applications. Councils can now apply for a
share of the £30m fund to install Changing Places toilets. The funding is to install larger accessible toilets for
people who cannot use standard toilets, with equipment such as hoists, curtains, adult sized changing
benches, and space for carers.
On 20 August, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government published a news story to
announce that councils in England, Scotland and Wales will have access to a share of £5m to help provide
housing and support to Afghans who have worked for this country in Afghanistan, but now face threats of
persecution.

Inflation
CPI
RPI

July (%)

August (%)

September (%)

2.0
3.8

3.2
4.8

3.1
4.9

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget
Table 1 details the forecast outturn by Directorate. This is based on the Quarter 2 position at 30th September 2021
officers’ projections for the remainder of the financial year indicate an underspend of (£4k) (Excluding efficiency
savings of £1.095m).
A further analysis by type of income and expenditure is shown on page 2 to 7.
1

Page 61

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

£’000

£’000

Corporate

546

221

Economic Growth

147

137

Finance

855

898

Housing

0

0

(159)

(87)

986

967

Leisure & Culture

1,861

1,900

Neighbourhoods

4,390

4,495

475

475

General Fund Assets

Governance

Planning & Strategic
Infrastructure

2

Page 62

Unallocated Covid Grant (£295k),
(325) (£30k) Fees and charges compensation
claim.
(10) (£10k) saving on contractor costs
(£22k) Savings as per latest housing
subsidy estimates
(£2k) saving on court costs due to
43 lower volume
£65k income pressure for renewable
heat incentive grant budgeted in GF,
which should be in HRA.
0
£34k pressure - Temporary
arrangement of free car parking
incentive for short stay car parks from
72 21 June to 30 September.
£36k pressure – Increased salary costs in
programme maintenance team.
£3k increased Business rates.
(£8k) Staff vacancy savings
(19) (£9k) savings on postage and
stationery.
£31k pressure - Reduction in income
from Markets, following changes to
service provision approved in 2020/21
£6k Pressure reduced Fees and
Charges
£17k pressure external income budgets
39 Income compensation scheme only
available for 3 months in 2021/22
(£9k) Staff savings vacancies and
kickstart funding
(£4k) savings in performers and
entertainers’ fees.
(£2k) Advertising savings
£95k pressure – Increased costs for
waste services to mitigate driver
shortage, service is being reviewed to
identify longer term solutions
105 £12k pressure additional agency costs

0

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

£’000

£’000
(£31k) salary vacancy savings
(£14k) Land Charges inspection fees
increase forecast.
£26k External income reduction in
building control consultancy and
44
£12k license fees reduced activity
£14k Fees for Ocella search engine hub
£28k professional fees for air pressure
testing and energy assessments.
£9k work to empty property
£29k staffing Breckland impact – staff
previously employed by Breckland and
59 charged to SHDC
£30k Reduction is SWRR Infrastructure
Fund
0
£7k pressure Salary reforecast in
community safety and community
cohesion, combination of salary
savings and contractor’s fees.
£5k pressure CCTV cameras
13 (£9k) savings after staff cover costs
(£35k) additional homelessness grants
£9k additional costs for next steps
programme
(£36k) rough sleepers spend funded
from reserves.

Regulatory

754

798

Strategic Growth &
Development

164

223

0

0

1,408

1,421

11,427

11,448

21

(1,220)

(1,220)

0

3,546

3,546

0

(182)

(172)

10

0

0

0

825

825

0

(276)

(311)

(35)

(1,676)

(1,095)

581

1,017

1,573

556

12,444

13,021

577

Strategic Projects

Wellbeing &
Community Leadership

Sub Total –
Directorates – net
costs
Recharges to HRA
Internal Drainage
Boards and Parish
Precepts
Investment Income
Impairment Allowance
Capital Expenditure
Charged In Year
Transfers to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves
Efficiencies
Requirement
Other Income and
Expenditure
General Fund Budget
net costs

3

Page 63

£10k pressure due to current economic
climate

Rough sleepers spend funded from
reserves.
See Table for efficiency savings

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

Funding (Council Tax,
Government grants
and business rates)
Total Budget (Surplus)/Deficit

£’000

£’000

(12,444)

(12,444)

0

0

577

577

Recommendation:
F1
That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 as detailed in Table 1.

4

Page 64

Variations from Budget for the most significant items
Table 2 - Q2
Variance
(underspend)/
overspend
Employee Costs

Page 65

Premises Costs
Transport Costs
Supplies and
Services

Third party
payments

Comments

(£250k) Saving from Solo management structure.
(£21k) Savings relating to apprentice costs
(£20k Salary savings in Governance - vacancies
(£7k) Saving in Leisure and Culture, some cost partly funded from kickstart scheme
(£214k) Staff savings in development management and planning policy.
(£31k) salary savings in Regulatory cost centres.
137,035
£95k pressure – Increased costs for waste services to mitigate driver shortage, service is being reviewed to identify longer term
solutions.
£36k Assets team relating to increased salary costs.
£23k Building Control Consultancy cost - Net additional cost of £23k (gross £54k, partly offset by staff savings of (£31k))
£29k Pressure in Strategic growth & Development some staff impact post Breckland changes
£22k Pressure in Wellbeing & community – Next Steps accommodation programme staffing
5,792 Additional Business Rates Costs Assets - 4k and £2k pressure council tax for homelessness budgets
3,930

Travel costs pressure in services

£13k pressure Community Safety.
£14k pressure in Land Charges for Ocella Search Hub
88,835 £27k Pressure Energy Assessment and other reports
£8k Pressure treatment additional costs in Pollution control.
(£6k) Internal work recharges
(£2k) Chairman’s costs savings
(7000)

Transfer Payments

(970,500)

Total Expenditure

(744,908)

Recharges forecast

(£970k) Mid-year estimate for Rent Allowances and Part of rent allowance and rebates

5

Grants,
Contributions and
Reimbursements

Fees and Charges
Rents and other
income

Page 66

Investment Income
Total income
Transfers to/from
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Accounting
Adjustments
Funding
Efficiency Savings
Target
Grand Total –
Surplus

(£295k) net surplus on Covid Grant, there will be more spend offset as identified
(£30k) Rent Rebate administration
16k universal credit grant reforecast
(338,286)
8k pressure electoral register grant reduction (No IER in 21/22)
30k reduction in SWRR find grant
(£68k) other Homelessness related Grants
Covid compensation claim
(30,000)
£970k Mid-Year Estimates for rent allowance payments
£34k pressure - Temporary arrangement of free car parking incentive for short stay car parks from 21 June to 30 September.
£31k pressure - Reduction in income from Markets, following changes to service provision approved in 2020/21.
£10k pressure licensing fees
1,129,800 £26k Pressure Building Control Consultancy
£17k Peele School Leisure cost recharges lower
(£45k) Garden Waste service expansion
(£10k) Additional DFG admin income
10,000

£10k pressure - Investment income re-forecast based on current economic conditions

771,514
(35,800)
4,800

Rough Sleepers Initiative spend funded from reserves

Additional depreciation

0
581,084

See efficiency savings table

576,690

6

Progress Against Savings Target
The 2021/22 budget includes a savings efficiency target of £1.676m, savings achieved so far are:
Table 2a – Efficiency Savings
Description

Amount
£’000

Vacancies

(200)

Dividend Income
Homelessness
Car Mileage and Allowances
Lower Tier Services Grant
Local Council Tax Support Grant
PSPS Contract Savings
Business Rates on Public
Conveniences
Business Rates in Leisure &
Culture
Garden Waste Income
Solo Management Structure
Corporate HR apprentice Training

(107)
(64)
(81)
(142)
(74)
(56)

Savings in Commercialisation & Growth,
Corporate & Strategic Growth
From Welland Homes
Homelessness Grant Income
Lower Transport Expenses
Additional Grant Monies received
Additional Grant Monies received
Result of Boston joining PSPS

(17) Public conveniences no longer rateable
Leisure Service - 100% reduction in 1st qtr and
then 66% reduction
(45) Service expansion
(250) Post Breckland changes to staff costs
(21) Savings in HR for Apprentice Training
(38)

Total

(1,095)

Target

(1,676)

Savings to be Identified

Comments

(581)

Other savings areas have been identified and work is underway to quantify the full extent of potential savings, these
are:
•
•
•

Alternative management arrangements
Pay award negotiations
South Holland Centre

Covid Revenue General Grant
The allocation for SHDC for 2021/22 is (£477k). So far during the year an expense of around £182k has been offset
against this grant, leaving an allocated amount of (£295k).

7

Page 67

Reserves
At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £13.182m, after a net transfer from reserves of £0.311m to
cover future revenue and capital expenditure. Table 3 reflects the forecast position.

Reserve

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance Forecast
Forecast
Forecast Use of
Balances at 1
Contributions into
Reserves
April 2021
Reserves
£’000
£’000
£’000

Forecast
Balances at 31
March 2022
£’000

General Fund
Council Tax
Investment and Growth
Replacement and Refurbishment
Transformation
Earmarked Grants
Specific Reserves Total
General Fund
Total

1,809
4,489
172
71
4,874
11,415
2,078
13,493

49
843
136
0
0
1,028
0
1,028

-19
-1,174
-77
-17
52
-1,339
0
-1,339

1,839
4,063
231
54
4,822
11,104
2,078
13,182

Housing Revenue Account
HRA Working Balance
Insurance
Major Repairs
Total

22,828
200
4,356
27,384

1,896
0
3,785
5,681

(2,318)
0
(7,540)
(9,858)

22,406
200
601
23,207

Please note the following reserve movements that are due to take place in 2021/22:
•

•

•
•

Council Tax
o Additions – Elections and Noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Contribution towards noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Capital) – South Holland Centre
Investment and Growth
o Additions – Repayment of Workshop van, Leisure management cost recovery, new homes bonus and
green waste capital repayment.
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Digital Strategy, Delivery Unit, Temporary establishment funding, PSPS
Transformation plan, Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT
infrastructure, Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and
Industrial Units, Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Temporary establishment funding, PSPS Transformation plan,
Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT infrastructure,
Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and Industrial Units,
Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
Transformation Reserve
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Public Protection Software
Earmarked Grants Reserve
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Establishment Funding.

Recommendation:
F2
That Cabinet notes the forecast reserve movements and balances as detailed in Table 3
8

Page 68

Section 2.3 – Housing Revenue Account Budget

Service Area

Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and
Facilities

Contributions to
Expenditure

Total Income

Repairs and Maintenance

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000
(15,280)

£’000
(15,280)

(1,188)

(1,185)

(22)

(47)

(16,490)

(16,512)

3,553

£’000
3
£17k pressure on Court income, which is
offset by a corresponding reduction in
Supervision and management Court Costs
(25)
(£42k) Grant income to be used against
professional fees in Housing Enabling
(22)
Repairs and Maintenance (£405k)
underspend
(£127k) – Savings forecast due to
reprioritisation of work because of the
scarcity of building materials increasing
costs, the full extent of the increases in
these costs are not yet known.
(41k) salary savings – Vacant positions
unfilled
(£7.5k) Saving on Staff Travel budgets due
(405)
to less activity
(65k) Savings forecast on professional and
contractor
fees
due
to
work
reprioritisation
(£4k) General Maintenance underspend
(£145k)
Renewable
heat
energy
incentive, previously budget within GF
with a budget of (£65k).

3,148

9

Page 69

Service Area

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

Supervision and
Management

Rents, rates, taxes and
other charges

Depreciation

Movement in Allowance
for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the
HRA for support services
Total Expenditure
Contribution from
Operations
Investment Income
Interest Payable
Net (Surplus)/Deficit

£’000

£’000

2,690

2,738

72

63

Supervision and Management (£48k)
overspend
(£50k) of the Budget allocation for
Professional and Contractors fees within
Housing Enabling is not currently
anticipated to be spent following a
reprofiling of activity. (£25k) of
professional fees are to be funded by
grant.
£29k (pressure) of the income budgeted
from Welland Homes regarding project
management costs, was received earlier
48 than profiled following acquisitions at the
end of March 2021 resulting in the
income falling into last year.
The delay in the purchase of Affordable
housing (HRA) and Market Rental Homes
for Welland Homes, will also result in a
shortfall in income for 2021/22, although
this will be reprofiled into future years
(£37k pressure).
£10k additional Agency costs to cover
vacated role in housing enabling
Housing Sewage Work Repairs are
expected to exceed budget by £47k
(9)
Depreciation £461k Overspend
This has been increased based upon last
year’s actual charges and additional
461 charges on last year’s capital spend. This
is calculated based on assets in any given
time and fluctuate.

3,324

3,785

271

271

-

2,275

2,275

-

12,185

12,280

95

(4,305)

(4,232)

73

(12)
2,347

(11)
2,347

1
-

(1,970)

(1,896)

74

10

Page 70

Section 2.4 – Capital Budget
This section covers:
•
•
•
•

Revisions to the Capital Programme
Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn
Capital receipts to date for 2021/22
Financing of the Capital Programme
Table 5 – General Fund Revisions to Capital Program
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th June 2021
Movements from Previous Forecast
Kings Road Acquisition
Disabled Facility Grants – Discretionary
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th September 2021
Table 5 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn
Scheme
Revised
Actual
Forecast
Budget
30 Sept
Outturn
2021/22
2021
2021/22

ICT Infrastructure
Public Protection Software
PSPS Transformation
AIM Upgrade
Priory Road Projects
South Holland Centre Projects
Castle Sports Boiler
Swimming Pool Boiler
Caste Sports Pool Fire Alarm
West Marsh Road Fire Alarm
West Marsh Road Electrical Rewiring
Ayscoughfee Hall
Temporary Accommodation
Industrial Units
Peele Leisure Lighting
Capital Acquisitions
Electric Vehicle Charging
NSAP Property Acquisitions
Kings Road Land Acquisition
Grants for Growth
Food Enterprise Zone
HIF Funding
Garden Waste
Grounds Maintenance
Environmental Services Operational
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
Street Cleansing
Disabled Facilities Grants
Decent Homes
Welland Homes
Total (including new items)

£000
185
46
113
20
155
71
5
136
31
13
43
146
29
63
19
1,100
21
374
100
565
2
1,000
185
42
1,174
69
35
1,072
75
1,187
8,076
11

Page 71

£000
6
39
2
71
19
51
6
200
184
24
1,138
133
1,873

£000
185
15
113
20
155
71
136
31
13
43
146
29
19
1,100
21
374
100
565
2
1,000
170
25
1,174
40
35
1,072
75
28
6,757

7,676
100
300
400
8,076
Variance
(under)/over

£000
(31)
(5)
(63)
(15)
(17)
(29)
(1,159)
(1,319)

Table 5 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery
Comments
(£31k) Following end of sharing agreement with Breckland this project
Public Protection
will be split, and majority of costs for this year will be splitting the system
Software
and no further development.
(£5k) Project postponed until next year with Budget vired to Swimming
Castle Sports Boiler
Pool Boiler Management system
Industrial Units
(£63k) Postponed until 2022/23
Garden Waste
(£15k) New Vehicle slightly under budget
(£17k) Mower cost less than expected and carry over form last year not
Grounds Maintenance
spent
(£29k) Spend will be less than expected as new equipment not required
Fleet Maintenance
as expected following takeover of facility. Balance to be carried over into
Vehicles
2022/23
Scheme

Recommendation:
F3
That Cabinet recommends to Council the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4.

Capital Receipts
Capital Financing
The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy.
Table 6 indicates the forecast capital resources for the General Fund available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.
The estimated position for the following two years is also provided.
Table 6 – Capital Resources
2020/21
£’000
Capital Resources* available at start of each year
Capital Investment (estimate in future years)
Additional Sources of Finance
New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years)
Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing
External Grants
Revenue Contributions
External borrowing
Budgeted contributions to capital reserve
Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects
Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year
* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts

12

Page 72

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

749
5,261
1,471
901

1,828
1,541
3,388

901
826
3,786

Table 7 – HRA to Capital Program
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th June 2021
Movements from Previous Forecast
Major Adaptations
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th September 2021

Scheme

14,834
150
150
14,984

Table 7 – 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn
Approved
Actual
Forecast
Variance
Budget
30 Sept
Outturn
(under)/over
2021/22
2021
2021/22

Central Heating
Kitchen/Bathroom
Renewable Energy
Smoke Alarms
Roofs and Gutters
Doors and Windows
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered
Schemes
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Sewerage Treatment Plant
The Square
Car Parks
ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
ICT Infrastructure
Major Adaptions
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade
Housing Repairs Vehicles
Grounds Maintenance
South Holland Maintenance
Weston Development Scheme
Wignals Gate S106
Scheme Subject to detailed approval
Total (including new items)

£000
942
1,491
1,152
208
960
7

£000
505
339
44
62
-

£000
942
1,491
1,152
208
960
7

£000
-

530

-

530

-

532
43
269
233
433
1,011
117
148
180
6
893
690
50
7
65
355
555
4,107

10
5
50
202
7
9
-

532
43
269
233
433
1,011
117
148
180
6
893
645
50
8
50
525
1260

(45)
1
(65)
(305)
(30)
(2,847)

14,984

1,233

11,693

(3,291)

13

Page 73

Table 6 indicates the forecast capital resources for the HRA available to the Council at the end of 2021/22. The
estimated position for the following two years is also provided.
Table 7 – Capital Resources
2020/21
£’000
Capital Resources* available at start of each year
Capital Investment (estimate in future years)
Additional Sources of Finance
New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years)
Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing
Major Repairs Reserve
HRA Working Balance
External Grants
Revenue Contributions
External borrowing
Budgeted contributions to capital reserve
Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects
Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year
* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

26,018
(4,722)

29,964
(11,693)

25,536
(8,219)

1,833

1,896

1,999

3,816
3,019

3,785
1,584

3,390
1,278

29,964

25,536

23,984

Section 2.5 – Treasury Management
Investments at 30 September 2021
During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy.
Detailed in Table 8 are the investments held by the Council at 30th September 2021 excluding accrued interest.
Note this represents the position at this one point in time. The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a
daily basis. Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates
(e.g. Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value
of SHDC’s own resources.
Table 8 – Investments as at 30 September 2021
Financial Institution
Amount (£)
Maturity Date
Lloyds Current Account
1,395,485
Instant Access
Handelsbanken Plc
4,993,244
Instant Access
CCLA Money Market Fund
4,650,000
Instant Access
Lloyds 95 Day Notice Account
4,995,206
95 Day Notice
Nationwide Building Society
2,000,000
18/11/2021
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/11/2021
Standard Chartered
3,000,000
02/12/2021
Goldman Sachs Investment Bank
5,000,000
31/12/2021
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
07/02/2022
Thurrock Borough Council
2,000,000
11/03/2022
Standard Chartered
2,000,000
16/03/2022
National Westminster Bank (CD)
5,000,000
17/03/2022
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/03/2022
Bayerische Landesbank London
3,000,000
07/04/2022
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
15/08/2022
TOTAL
48,033,935

14

Page 74

Yield
0.00%
0.00%
0.024%
0.05%
0.07%
0.25%
0.12%
0.17%
0.11%
0.30%
0.08%
0.16%
0.25%
0.19%
0.18%

Duration
Less than one week
Less than one month
One to three months
Three to six months
Six to nine months
5Nine to twelve months
More than twelve months (Welland
Homes)

Maturity Structure at 30 September 2021
Amount (£)
11,038,729
17,495,206
14,000,000
3,000,000
2,500,000

Percentage of Total
21%
0%
34%
27%
6%
5%

3,710,031

7%

Return on Investments
The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £194.1k. At the end of September 2021 investment income
projected to the end of the year is £183.9k. This figure is still an estimate as the actual returns on all investments
may change during the second part of the financial year.
Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.114% compared to the benchmark average 3 month LIBID rate
of -0.054%.
Welland Homes investments have achieved an average rate of 3.5%.
The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 0.352%.
Borrowing
The Council has £67.5m of external borrowing as per the table below.

Entity

Amount (£)

Start Date

Maturity Date

Public Works Loan Board

67,456,000

28/03/2012 28/03/2062

Rate
3.48%

Borrowing costs for 2021/22 are projected to be £2.347m
PWLB borrowing rates have begun to rise again over the last two months. As at 30th September 2021 the 50 year
PWLB certainty rate was 2.01%. This is the first time since May that PWLB rates have been above 2%. This increase
reflects the change in market sentiment over the last two months regarding future interest rate hikes and
inflationary pressures.

15

Page 75

Summary
Interest rates have remained very low during September 2021. The Bank of England Base Rate remained at 0.10% in
September. Market expectations have begun to shift towards rate hikes before the end of this year, however the
more likely scenario is for rates to increase in Qu1 2022. This is dependent on the economy continuing to rebound
and inflationary pressures continuing.
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 0.02% for one-month
deposits through to 0.50% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have doubled from August, reflecting the
market sentiment that UK base rate will rise in 2022.
PWLB borrowing rates had been on a falling trend during summer 2021 but have rebounded back to early 2021
levels during September. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, are rising due to UK inflation concerns.
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of
action to be taken.

16

Page 76

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection
A review of debts is undertaken every month, and monitoring is reported against targets. In line with the new
financial procedure limits there are no debts in excess of £1,050 requiring Cabinet approval for write off. Debts
below this level have been submitted to the s151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for write off.
An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 30 September 2021 is show in Table 9.

0-30 days

31-60 days

£

£

30,331

41,707

Table 9 – Sundry Debt Analysis
91-120
61-90 days
121-183
184-365
days
days
days
£
£
£
£
36,121
852,873
350,056
47,210

Over 365
days
£
200,025

Total
£
1,558,323

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£52,911) that are not yet due
Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates
Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS)
Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous
year, allowing for national up-ratings. This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda
to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of
pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.
Quarter 2 collection rate is comparable to the same point in 2020/21, but remains lower than pre-covid levels and
there remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact of CTS. In recognition, we continue to remain prudent
in setting the bad debt provision in this area.
Council Tax – Quarter 2 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year at 30 September 2021 was £54.3m with a collection rate of 56.64% achieved at 30
September 2021 (56.74% at 30 September 2020).
Business Rates
Table 10 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention
Base Estimate
included in
2021/22 budget
£
Non Domestic rating income for the year
Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22)
Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22)
South Holland District Council’s income (excluding
renewables) (40% for 21/22)

(25,037,074)
2,503,707
12,518,537
(10,014,830)

(Surplus)/Deficit
in 2021/22 – will
impact next year’s
budget
£
£
(20,503,164)
4,533,910
2,050,316
(453,391)
10,251,582
(2,266,955)

Forecast position
at 31 March 2022

(8,201,266)

1,813,564

The position in Table 10 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount
offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount will be
reimbursed by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received
in 2021/22 but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this
circa £1.4m of income is due to be received in 2021/22 and this will need to be transferred into reserves at the end
17

Page 77

of the financial year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due
to a reduction in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored.
Business Rates Appeals
Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list.
As at 30 September 2021 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple
appeals for the same property) was £3.4m, relating to 10 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 98% of
this value comes from just 7 properties and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit
should these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision
(£2.232m) is considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals.
Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year to 30 September 2021 is £24.2m with a collection rate of 51.82% achieved at 30
September 2021 (53.21% 30 September 2020). The target collection rate for 2021/22 is 97.1%. It should be noted
that due to the application of COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the collectable debits is some £3.2m lower
than usual. Collectable debit increased from the end of quarter 1 onwards as the COVID related additional reliefs
reduced from 100% to 66% for the remainder of the year. Collection rates compared to the previous financial year is
less meaningful than usual.
Additional revenue budget notes
Income
The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided.

18

Page 78

Agenda Item 11.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 19 January 2022

SUBJECT:

HRA rent setting 2022-2023

PURPOSE:

To seek Council approval for the proposed applicable rent increase
allowable under the Rent Standard 2020 for HRA tenants and other
housing tenures.

KEY DECISION:

No

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing

REPORT OF:

Assistant Director - Housing

REPORT AUTHOR:

Jason King

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 aimed to reset rents in the social housing sector,
relative to private rents. This involved reducing social and affordable rents in England by 1% a
year for 4 years from April 2016. In the financial year 2020/2021 the previous policy of CPI +1%
was allowed to resume and it was confirmed that this would be the rent calculation up to and
including 2024/2025.
In accordance with the Rent Standard 2020, the maximum applicable rent increase is CPI + 1%
based on Septembers CPI figure. South Holland District Council members are therefore asked to
consider and approve a rent increase for HRA tenants and other tenures held within the
Councils Housing stock of CPI + 1% except for where RPI +1% is applicable.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That South Holland District Council approve the following rent increases
HRA tenants

CPI +1%

HRA guest rooms

CPI + 1%

Page 79

HRA private hire fees for guest rooms and
community centres

CPI + 1%

South Holland Homes

CPI + 1%

S106 managed units

CPI + 1%

Garage plots

CPI +1%

Homeless accommodation for individuals and
families

CPI +1%

Shared ownership rents

RPI +1%

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
In order for the Council to deliver an effective landlord operation across all of its tenures,
ensuring investment and repair in existing stock and replacement and development of new
stock. The Council must ensure that the income generated from rents charged can support all of
these activities. Social rents are regulated by the Rent Standard 2020 which ensures that the
Council is charging an appropriate rent that does not exceed the applicable rent cap.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Consideration has been given to applying a lower % increase. However, this would have a long
term detrimental impact on the HRA Business Plan. This would limit the Councils capital
programmes for refurbishment and replacement in future years. Not recommended.
Consideration has been given to not applying a rent increase. However, this would significantly
impact the HRA Business Plan over the next thirty years. Not recommended.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 aimed to reset rents in the social housing sector,
relative to private rents. This involved reducing social and affordable rents in England by 1%
a year for 4 years from April 2016. In the financial year 2020/2021 the previous policy of a
maximum increase of CPI +1% was allowed to resume and it was confirmed that this would
be the rent calculation up to and including 2024/2025.
In accordance with the Rent Standard 2020, the maximum applicable rent increase is CPI +
1% based on Septembers CPI figure.
CPI is a Consumer Price Index, the price of a weighted average market based on consumer
goods and services purchased by households. Changes in measured CPI track changes in
prices over time.
RPI is the Retail Price Index which is a measure of inflation published monthly by the Office
for National Statistics. It measures the change in the cost of a representative sample of
retail goods and services.

1.2
1.3

1.4

2.

REPORT

Page 80

2.1

The table below at 2.2 summarises the current formula rent cap, average weekly rent
charged, the new average weekly rent, applying CPI +1% and a comparison to the median
market rent figure in South Holland.

2.2

Number of
bedrooms

Formula rent
cap

1
2
3
4
5
6

£155.73
£164.87
£174.03
£183.18
£192.35
£201.50

SHDC current
average rent
figure 20212022
£66.24
£75.73
£83.01
£89.88
£103.78
£98.79

Likely average
rent figure for
2022-2023

Median market
rent figure for
South Holland

£68.96
£78.83
£86.42
£93.56
£108.03
£102.84

£120
£155
£183
£259
N/A.
N/A.

2.3

The above table is provided to give context to the proposed action of increasing rents by
CPI +1%. The table sets out the impact for HRA social rented tenants only, this being the
greatest proportion of Council tenancies. The calculation will be applied at an individual
level and all tenants will receive statutory notice advising them of their new rent. If
approved, new rents will be applicable from the 4 April 2022.

3.

CONCLUSION

3.1

The recommendations set out above are in line with the HRA Business Plan which assumes
rent will be increased in accordance with the applicable rent standard. It is therefore
proposed that Council members approve the rent increases set out in the
recommendations section of this report.

4.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

4.1

N/A.

5.

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP

5.1.1 None.
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 Your Home: all of the critical activities identified within the Councils Corporate Plan are
supported by this proposal.
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 None.
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 None.

Page 81

5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None.
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 If approval is given to the outlined rent increase, an increased income of approximately
£625,000 will be generated in 2022-2023. This will be set out in full detail in the budget
papers for 2022-2023.
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 None.
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the relevant Portfolio Holder and members of the
Executive. As the decision to increase HRA rents is for South Holland District Council to
determine, this paper has not been considered by other committees. In accordance with
the Housing Act 1985 tenants are entitled to statutory notice which will be served if
approval is given.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 The Council continues to deliver a capital programme of upgrades to its housing stock. Any
increase to rents charged supports the continued investment in maintaining a high quality
housing stock. Further to this the Council is committed to delivering new homes to meet
continued housing demand and part of any additional revenue generated will contribute
towards the delivery of new homes.
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None.
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None.
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 The Council recognises that any additional expenditure may be challenging for our tenants.
We will ensure that tenants are clearly notified regarding any increases to rent charged.
Tenants will also be made aware of help and support available to them through the
Councils Revenues & Benefits team, the DWP for support with Housing Costs and the
Councils Housing Assistance policy which details financial support available. Housing
Neighbourhood Officers are available to provide any additional one to one support as
required
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None.
5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 The HRA Business Plan includes provision for improvements to windows, doors, roofing and
insulation. The Council has also engaged
a programme
of activity to support the green
Page
82

homes agenda to ensure that the EPC rating of all residential properties is improved in
accordance with government guidelines. Any increased revenue will support the continued
delivery of this programme.
6.

ACRONYMS

6.1

HRA- Housing Revenue Account
EPC- Energy Performance Certificate
DWP- Department for Work and Pensions
CPI- Consumer Price Index
RPI- Retail Price Index

APPENDICES
None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Jason King
JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Assistant Director - Housing
jasonking@sholland.gov.uk

Approved for publication:

Portfolio Holder for HRA & Private Sector Housing

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development (S151), Christine Marshall

To:

South Holland District Council – 19th January 2022

Author:

Jacqueline Mundy – Interim Treasury and Investment Manager (Public
Sector Partnership Services Ltd (PSPSL))

Subject:

Mid Term Treasury Report 2021/22

Purpose:

To provide an update of the treasury management position of the Council
as at 30th September 2021.

Recommendations:
1

That South Holland District Council note this report, the treasury activity as detailed in
Appendix A and the economic update from Link Asset Services at Appendix B, at their
meeting on 19th January 2022.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA),
issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. As from 2021/22, all local
authorities are required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is to provide the following: • a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury
management activity contribute to the provision of services
• an overview of how the associated risk is managed
• the implications for future financial sustainability
A report setting out our Capital Strategy was taken to the full council as part of the budget
setting report on 3rd March 2021.

1.2

Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s borrowing,
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions;
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of
optimum performance consistent with those risks.”
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the
year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operations ensure
this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low-risk
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering maximising
investment return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its
capital spending obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on
occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost
objectives.

1.3

The Treasury Management function is administered by Public Sector Partnership Services
Ltd on behalf of the Council.

Page 85

1.4

This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of
Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017). The primary requirements are as
follows:
•
•
•

•
•

1.5

Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities;
Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives;
Receipt by full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report (this report) and an Annual Report
(stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year;
Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and
administration of treasury management decisions; and
Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy
and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated body is the
Governance and Audit Committee.

Attached for scrutiny at Appendix A is the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy update and at Appendix B an economic
update from Link Asset Services to enable Full Council to provide consideration at their
meeting on 19th January 2022.
The mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on
Treasury Management, and covers the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

An economic update for the 2021/22 financial year to 30th September 2021;
A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment
Strategy;
The Council’s capital expenditure as set out in the capital strategy and prudential
indicators;
A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22;
A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22;
A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22;
A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

As the report is mainly an update report there are no alternative options presented.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

To comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The report provides Members with a summary of the economy, the effect it has had on
financial markets and the treasury activity during 2021/22. The report requires scrutiny
prior to submitting to Council for approval.

Page 86

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Constitution & Legal

5.1.1

This Council is required to produce a mid-term treasury report to comply with the CIPFA
Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017. The report has no implications which
would affect the constitution and does not therefore warrant a further change in the
constitution.

5.1.2

Plans and strategies for control of the Council’s borrowing, investments, capital
expenditure and minimum revenue provision form part of the Council’s policy framework
and are therefore a non-executive (Council) function under the Council’s Constitution.

5.2

Financial

5.2.1

This mid-term report provides a review of the treasury activity for the first six month of the
2021/22 financial year.

5.2.2

The Council held £48m of investments and £3.71m of loans to Welland Homes as at 30
September 2021. The investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is
0.352% against a benchmark of -0.054% (average 3 month LIBID).

5.2.3

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2021/22 is £194,100 (GF £181,600, HRA
£12,500) and performance for the year to date is £94,092 which is £2,958 below the
profiled budget. The outturn is currently projected to be £185,900 which is £10,200 below
the estimate. This budget shortfall can be attributed to the current level of exceptionally
low interest rates available.

5.3

Risk Management

5.3.1

The Council’s priority is the security of its investments.

5.4

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1

The report is being submitted for pre decision scrutiny prior to the minutes of this meeting
being submitted to Council.

5.4.2

Link Asset Services have been consulted in relation to the compilation of this report.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

Due to budgetary considerations all wards are affected.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8
7.9
7.10

CPI – Consumer Price Index
CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
DMADF - Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
ECB – European Central Bank
GDP – Gross Domestic Product
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
LIBID – London Inter Bank Bid (Investment Rate)
MPC – Monetary Policy Committee
MMF – Money Market Funds

Page 87

7.11
7.12
7.13
7.14

PSPSL – Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd
PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
QE – Quantitative Easing
TMSS – Treasury Management Strategy Statement

Background papers:a)

SHDC Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2021/22.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post
Telephone Number:
Email:

Jacqueline Mundy – Treasury and Investment Manager (PSPSL)
01507 613248
Jacqueline.Mundy@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A - Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy Update
2021/22.
Appendix B – Economic Update (from Link Asset Services)

Page 88

APPENDIX A
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Update
2021/22
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was approved by
Council on 3rd March 2021.
There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in the
light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved.
The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)
This part of the report is structured to update:
• The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
• How these plans are being financed;
• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and
• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.
Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure
The following table shows the revised estimates and financing of capital expenditure and the
changes since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget. It also highlights the
original supported and unsupported elements of the capital programme, and the expected
financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.
Capital Expenditure

Housing Revenue Account
(HRA)
General Fund
Total spend
Financed by:
Capital receipts
HRA Capital receipts – Land
Sales
Capital grants and
Contributions
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct Revenue Funding
1-4-1 receipts
Shared Ownership Sale
Proceeds
Total financing
Borrowing need

2021-22
Original
Programme
£’000

2021-22
Latest
Approved
£’000

Actual
As At
30-09-21
£’000

11,923

13,337

1,211

9,996

6,851
18,774

7,720
21,057

1,834
3,045

6,366
16,362

(86)
0

2021-22
Forecast
Outturn
£’000

744
0

744
0

744
0

1,338

1,595

410

1,572

5,794
4,229
1,091
891

7,195
4,825
1,092
1,044

1,306
200
(8)
0

7,195
2,408
486
605

14,087
4,687

16,495
4,562

1,821
1,224

13,010
3,352

*Commercial activities/non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital expenditure
on investment properties, loans to third parties etc.
The borrowing need shown in the above table is the Council’s purchase of an additional
equity stake in Welland Homes and the loans made to Welland Homes. This capital
expenditure has not been financed and therefore creates a borrowing requirement. Rather

Page 89

APPENDIX A
than take out external borrowing, the Council is utilising its cash balances and internally
borrowing to finance the capital expenditure.
Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR),
External Debt and the Operational Boundary.
The following table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing
for a capital purpose. It also shows the expected debt position over the period. This is
termed the Operational Boundary.

Prudential Indicator – CFR
CFR – housing
CFR – non housing
Total CFR
Net movement in CFR

2021-22
Original
Estimate
For Year End
£’000

2021-22
Latest
Approved
For Year End
£’000

68,427
12,512
80,939

68,427
12,387
80,814

68,427
11,288
79,715

68,427
9,160
77,587

4,687

4,562

1,224

3,352

67,456

67,456

Prudential Indicator – External Debt / Operational Boundary
Borrowing
67,456
67,456
Other long term liabilities

Position
As At
30-09-21
£’000

2021-22
Forecast
Outturn
For Year End
£’000

0

0

0

0

Total debt 31 March

67,456

67,456

67,456

67,456

Approved Operational
Boundary

87,000

87,000

87,000

87,000

Limits to Borrowing Activity
The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the
medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.
Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and next two financial
years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years. The Council
has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this
proves prudent.

Gross borrowing
Less investments
Net borrowing
CFR (year-end position)

2021-22
Original
Estimate
For Year
End
£’000
67,456
(38,794)
28,662
80,939

2021-22
Revised
Estimate
For Year
End
£’000
67,456
(42,987)
24,468
80,814

Page 90

Position
As At
30/09/21
£’000

67,456
(48,033)
19,423
79,715

2021-22
Forecast
Outturn
For Year
End
£’000
67,456
(44,842)
22,614
77,587

APPENDIX A
The Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development (Section 151 Officer) reports that no
difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with this prudential
indicator.
A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set
and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is the expected
maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.
Authorised limit for external debt

2021-22
Original
Estimate
For Year End
£’000
90,000

Position
As
At
30/09/21
£’000
90,000

2021-22
Revised
Estimate
For Year End
£’000
90,000

Other long term liabilities

1,000

1,000

1,000

Total

91,000

91,000

91,000

Borrowing

The limit of £1m for long term liabilities shown above provides headroom for the Council to
take out finance leases for capital assets rather than outright purchase. Prior to taking out a
finance lease, a full option appraisal would be carried out to ensure it is the most cost
effective way of financing the capital expenditure.
Borrowing
The Council’s projected capital financing requirement (CFR) for the end of 2021/22 is
£77.59m. The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If
the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external
borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). The balance
of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. The Council has
borrowings of £67.456m in respect of the Housing Revenue Account self-financing
settlement and it is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this
financial year but this will be kept under review.
The following graph shows the movement in PWLB rates for the first six months of the year
to 30th September 2021.

Page 91

APPENDIX A

The 50-year PWLB target rate for new long-term borrowing was back to Quarter 1 levels at
1.98%, after two months of lower rates over summer.
Debt Rescheduling
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate and
following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which have impacted
PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt rescheduling has therefore been
undertaken to date in the current financial year.
Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable
borrowing limits. During the half year ended 30th September 2021, the Council has operated
within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management
Strategy Statement for 2021. The Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development
(Section 151 Officer) reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years
in complying with these indicators.
Annual Investment Strategy
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22, which includes the
Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 3rd March 2021. In
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, it sets out the Council’s
investment priorities as being:
•
•
•

Security of capital
Liquidity
Yield

Page 92

APPENDIX A

The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate
with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In the current
economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash
flow needs, but also to seek out value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit
rated financial institutions, using the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, including a
minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap overlay information.
As shown by the interest rate forecasts in Appendix B, it is now impossible to earn the level
of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as all investment rates are barely
above zero now that Bank Rate is at 0.10%. There is however increasing likelihood that the
Bank Rate will begin to rise during the second half of the financial year. Although this would
improve investment returns available to the council, Link Asset Services forecast the Bank
Rate to rise slowly to 0.75% by March 2024.
Investment Portfolio 2021/22
The Council held £48.034m of investments and £3.710m of loans to Welland Homes as at
30 September 2021. The investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is
0.3519% against a benchmark of -0.054% (average 3 month LIBID). Deposits held excluding
accrued interest were as follows:

Page 93

APPENDIX A

0
Institution

Page 94

Welland Homes
Lloyds Bank Current Account
Handelsbanken
CCLA Money Market Fund
Lloyds Bank
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
Standard Chartered
Nationwide Building Society
Goldman Sachs Investment Bank
Australia & New Zealand Bank
Australia & New Zealand Bank
Thurrock Borough Council
Standard Chartered
National Westminster Bank (CD)
Close Brothers
Bayerische Landesbank London
Nationwide Building Society
Close Brothers
Standard Chartered
Goldman Sachs Investment Bank
Australia & New Zealand Bank
Standard Chartered
Close Brothers
TOTAL

Investment
Type

Start
Date

Maturity
Date

Long Term Debtor
Instant Access
Instant Access
Instant Access
95 Day Notice
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Certificate of Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit
Time Deposit

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
13/05/20
02/12/20
02/12/20
13/01/21
08/02/21
15/02/21
12/03/21
16/03/21
17/03/21
26/03/21
07/04/21
18/05/21
24/05/21
02/06/21
13/07/21
16/08/21
16/09/21
24/09/21

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
12/05/21
02/06/21
02/06/21
13/07/21
07/02/22
16/08/21
11/03/22
16/09/21
17/03/22
24/09/21
07/10/21
18/11/21
24/11/21
02/12/21
31/12/21
15/08/22
16/03/22
24/03/22

Rate/
Return
%
n/a
0.00
0.00
0.024
0.05
1.00
0.04
0.06
0.11
0.11
0.10
0.30
0.11
0.16
0.25
0.10
0.07
0.25
0.12
0.17
0.18
0.08
0.25

As at
31-03-21
£’000
3,710
0
4,993
3,500
4,994
3,000
3,000
2,000
5,000
2,500
2,500
2,000
2,000
5,000
2,500
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
46,697

As at
30-09-21
£’000
3,710
1,395
4,993
4,650
4,995
0
0
0
0
2,500
0
2,000
0
5,000
0
3,000
2,000
2,500
3,000
5,000
2,500
2,000
2,500
51,743

APPENDIX A
In addition to the investments listed, the Council has issued four loans to Welland Homes
totalling £3.710m at a rate of 3.5% which are classified as Long Term Debtors.
The Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development (Section 151 Officer) confirms that
the approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first
six months of 2021/22.
The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2021/22 is £194,100 (GF £181,600, HRA
£12,500) and performance for the year to date is £94,092 which is £2,958 below the profiled
budget. The outturn is currently projected to be £183,900 which is £10,200 below the
estimate. This budget shortfall can be attributed to the current level of exceptionally low
interest rates available.
The Council monitors risk of its investment portfolio against the Link Asset Services
counterparty risk matrix. This matrix gives recommended maximum investment durations for
each financial institution based on the ratings allocated by the major credit rating agencies
and also takes into account credit default swap prices.

OTHER
Changes in risk policy
The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on risk
management. Where an authority changes its risk policy e.g. for moving surplus cash into or
out of certain types of investment funds or other types of investment instruments, this
change in risk policy should be brought to members’ attention in treasury management
update reports.
There has been no change in risk policy to report, however a CIPFA consultation is
underway and changes to the Prudential Code could follow from April 2022.

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B
Economics and Interest Rates (from Link Asset Services as at 06/10/21)
ECONOMICS UPDATE
MPC meeting 24.9.21
The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged at
0.10% and made no changes to its programme of quantitative easing purchases due to finish
by the end of this year at a total of £895bn; two MPC members voted to stop the last £35bn of
purchases as they were concerned that this would add to inflationary pressures.
There was a major shift in the tone of the MPC’s minutes at this meeting from the previous
meeting in August which had majored on indicating that some tightening in monetary policy
was now on the horizon, but also not wanting to stifle economic recovery by too early an
increase in Bank Rate. In his press conference after the August MPC meeting, Governor
Andrew Bailey said, “the challenge of avoiding a steep rise in unemployment has been
replaced by that of ensuring a flow of labour into jobs” and that “the Committee will be
monitoring closely the incoming evidence regarding developments in the labour market, and
particularly unemployment, wider measures of slack, and underlying wage pressures.” In other
words, it was flagging up a potential danger that labour shortages could push up wage growth
by more than it expects and that, as a result, CPI inflation would stay above the 2% target for
longer. It also discounted sharp increases in monthly inflation figures in the pipeline in late
2021 which were largely propelled by events a year ago e.g., the cut in VAT in August 2020 for
the hospitality industry, and by temporary shortages which would eventually work their way out
of the system: in other words, the MPC had been prepared to look through a temporary
spike in inflation.
So, in August the country was just put on alert. However, this time the MPC’s words indicated
there had been a marked increase in concern that more recent increases in prices, particularly
the increases in gas and electricity prices in October and due again next April, are, indeed,
likely to lead to faster and higher inflation expectations and underlying wage growth,
which would in turn increase the risk that price pressures would prove more persistent
next year than previously expected. Indeed, to emphasise its concern about inflationary
pressures, the MPC pointedly chose to reaffirm its commitment to the 2% inflation target
in its statement; this suggested that it was now willing to look through the flagging economic
recovery during the summer to prioritise bringing inflation down next year. This is a reversal of
its priorities in August and a long way from words at earlier MPC meetings which indicated a
willingness to look through inflation overshooting the target for limited periods to ensure that
inflation was ‘sustainably over 2%’. Indeed, whereas in August the MPC’s focus was on getting
through a winter of temporarily high energy prices and supply shortages, believing that inflation
would return to just under the 2% target after reaching a high around 4% in late 2021, now its
primary concern is that underlying price pressures in the economy are likely to get embedded
over the next year and elevate future inflation to stay significantly above its 2% target and for
longer.
Financial markets are now pricing in a first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in
February 2022, but this looks ambitious as the MPC has stated that it wants to see what
happens to the economy, and particularly to employment once furlough ends at the end of
September. At the MPC’s meeting in February it will only have available the employment
figures for November: to get a clearer picture of employment trends, it would need to wait until
the May meeting when it would have data up until February. At its May meeting, it will also
have a clearer understanding of the likely peak of inflation.
The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate versus
selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: -

Page 97

APPENDIX B
1. Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most

circumstances”.
2. Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings.
3. Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.
4. Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.

COVID-19 vaccines. These have been the game changer which have enormously boosted
confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal during the summer after a
third wave of the virus threatened to overwhelm hospitals in the spring. With the household
saving rate having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 2020, there is
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for services in hard hit sectors like
restaurants, travel and hotels. The big question is whether mutations of the virus could develop
which render current vaccines ineffective, as opposed to how quickly vaccines can be modified
to deal with them and enhanced testing programmes be implemented to contain their spread.
US. See comments below on US treasury yields.
EU. The slow role out of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the
vaccination rate has picked up sharply since then. After a contraction in GDP of -0.3% in Q1,
Q2 came in with strong growth of 2%, which is likely to continue into Q3, though some
countries more dependent on tourism may struggle. Recent sharp increases in gas and
electricity prices have increased overall inflationary pressures but the ECB is likely to see these
as being only transitory after an initial burst through to around 4%, so is unlikely to be raising
rates for a considerable time.
German general election. With the CDU/CSU and SDP both having won around 24-26% of the
vote in the September general election, the composition of Germany’s next coalition
government may not be agreed by the end of 2021. An SDP-led coalition would probably
pursue a slightly less restrictive fiscal policy, but any change of direction from a CDU/CSU led
coalition government is likely to be small. However, with Angela Merkel standing down as
Chancellor as soon as a coalition is formed, there will be a hole in overall EU leadership which
will be difficult to fill.
China. After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic
recovery was strong in the rest of the year; this enabled China to recover all the initial
contraction. During 2020, policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a programme
of monetary and fiscal support that was particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth.
At the same time, China’s economy benefited from the shift towards online spending by
consumers in developed markets. These factors helped to explain its comparative
outperformance compared to western economies during 2020 and earlier in 2021. However,
the pace of economic growth has now fallen back after this initial surge of recovery from the
pandemic and China is now struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through sharp
local lockdowns - which will also depress economic growth. There are also questions as to how
effective Chinese vaccines are proving. In addition, recent regulatory actions motivated by a
political agenda to channel activities into officially approved directions, are also likely to reduce
the dynamism and long-term growth of the Chinese economy.
Japan. 2021 has been a patchy year in combating Covid. However, after a slow start, nearly
50% of the population are now vaccinated and Covid case numbers are falling. After a weak
Q3 there is likely to be a strong recovery in Q4. The Bank of Japan is continuing its very loose
monetary policy but with little prospect of getting inflation back above 1% towards its target of
2%, any time soon: indeed, inflation was negative in July. New Prime Minister Kishida has
promised a large fiscal stimulus package after the November general election – which his party
is likely to win.

Page 98

APPENDIX B
World growth. World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until starting
to lose momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas and
electricity prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside during
2022. It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world
globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply
products, and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from those in prior
decades.
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following forecast as at
07/10/20.
The PWLB rates quoted are the concessionary certainty rates.

Bank Rate
3 Month
Average
Earnings
6 Month
Average
Earnings
12 Month
Average
Earnings
5yr
PWLB*
rate
10yr
PWLB*
rate
25yr
PWLB*
rate
50yr
PWLB*
rate

Dec21

Mar22

Jun22

Sep22

Dec22

Mar23

Jun23

Sep23

Dec 23

Mar24

0.10%

0.10%

0.25%

0.25%

0.25%

0.25%

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.75%

0.10%

0.10%

0.20%

0.20%

0.30%

0.40%

0.50%

0.50%

0.60%

0.70%

0.20%

0.20%

0.30%

030%

0.40%

0.50%

0.60%

0.60%

0.70%

0.80%

0.30%

0.40%

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.60%

0.70%

0.80%

0.90%

1.00%

1.40%

1.40%

1.50%

1.50%

1.60%

1.60%

1.60%

1.70%

1.70%

1.70%

1.80%

1.80%

1.90%

1.90%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

2.20%

2.20%

2.30%

2.30%

2.40%

2.40%

2.40%

2.50%

2.50%

2.60%

2.00%

2.00%

2.10%

2.20%

2.20%

2.20%

2.20%

2.30%

2.30%

2.40%

* PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to economies around
the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to
0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings.
As shown in the forecast table above, one increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% has now
been included in quarter 2 of 2022/23, a second increase to 0.50% in quarter 2 of 23/24 and a third
one to 0.75% in quarter 4 of 23/24.

Page 99

APPENDIX B
Significant risks to the forecasts
•

COVID vaccines do not work to combat new mutations and/or new vaccines take longer
than anticipated to be developed for successful implementation.

•

The pandemic causes major long-term scarring of the economy.

•

The Government implements an austerity programme that supresses GDP growth.

•

The MPC tightens monetary policy too early – by raising Bank Rate or unwinding QE.

•

The MPC tightens monetary policy too late to ward off building inflationary pressures.

•

Major stock markets e.g. in the US, become increasingly judged as being over-valued and
susceptible to major price corrections. Central banks become increasingly exposed to the
“moral hazard” risks of having to buy shares and corporate bonds to reduce the impact of
major financial market sell-offs on the general economy.

•

Geo-political risks are widespread e.g. German general election in September 2021
produces an unstable coalition or minority government and a void in high-profile leadership
in the EU when Angela Merkel steps down as Chancellor of Germany; on-going global
power influence struggles between Russia/China/US.

The balance of risks to the UK economy: • The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside, including
residual risks from Covid and its variants - both domestically and their potential effects
worldwide.
Forecasts for Bank Rate
Bank Rate is not expected to go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply potential of the
economy has not generally taken a major hit during the pandemic, so should be able to cope well
with meeting demand without causing inflation to remain elevated in the medium-term, or to inhibit
inflation from falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the surge to around 4% towards the
end of 2021. Three increases in Bank rate are forecast in the period to March 2024, ending at
0.75%. However, these forecasts may well need changing within a relatively short time frame for
the following reasons: •

•
•

•
•

•

There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running out of steam
during the summer and now into the autumn. This could lead into stagflation which would
create a dilemma for the MPC as to which way to face.
Will some current key supply shortages e.g., petrol and diesel, spill over into causing
economic activity in some sectors to take a significant hit?
Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other prices
caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are already going to
deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take any action on Bank Rate
to cool inflation. Then we have the Government’s upcoming budget in October, which could
also end up in reducing consumer spending power.
On the other hand, consumers are sitting on around £200bn of excess savings left over
from the pandemic so when will they spend this sum, in part or in total?
There are 1.6 million people coming off furlough at the end of September; how many of
those will not have jobs on 1st October and will, therefore, be available to fill labour
shortages in many sectors of the economy? So, supply shortages which have been driving
up both wages and costs, could reduce significantly within the next six months or so and
alleviate the MPC’s current concerns.
There is a risk that there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid front, on top of the
flu season this winter, which could depress economic activity.

Page 100

APPENDIX B
In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, it is likely that
these forecasts will need to be revised again soon - in line with what the new news is.
It also needs to be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.10% was an emergency measure
to deal with the Covid crisis hitting the UK in March 2020. At any time, the MPC could decide to
simply take away that final emergency cut from 0.25% to 0.10% on the grounds of it no longer
being warranted and as a step forward in the return to normalisation. In addition, any Bank Rate
under 1% is both highly unusual and highly supportive of economic growth.
Forecasts for PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields
As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be a steady
rise over the forecast period, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields in the US.
There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt yields and
PWLB rates due to the following factors: • How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury yields?
• Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they rise beyond a yet
unspecified level?
• Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet unspecified
level?
• How strong will inflationary pressures turn out to be in both the US and the UK and so
impact treasury and gilt yields?
• How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation monetary
policies?
• How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their national bonds
i.e., without causing a panic reaction in financial markets as happened in the “taper
tantrums” in the US in 2013?
• Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the yield curve, or both?
The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone or
EU within our forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are looming up, and that there
are no major ructions in international relations, especially between the US and China / North Korea
and Iran, which have a major impact on international trade and world GDP growth.
Gilt and treasury yields
Since the start of 2021, there has been a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence PWLB rates.
During the first part of the year, US President Biden’s, and the Democratic party’s determination to
push through a $1.9trn (equivalent to 8.8% of GDP) fiscal boost for the US economy as a recovery
package from the Covid pandemic was what unsettled financial markets. However, this was in
addition to the $900bn support package already passed in December 2020 under President
Trump. This was then followed by additional Democratic ambition to spend further huge sums on
infrastructure and an American families plan over the next decade which are caught up in
Democrat / Republican haggling. Financial markets were alarmed that all this stimulus, which is
much bigger than in other western economies, was happening at a time in the US when: 1. A fast vaccination programme has enabled a rapid opening up of the economy.
2. The economy had already been growing strongly during 2021.
3. It started from a position of little spare capacity due to less severe lockdown measures than
in many other countries. A combination of shortage of labour and supply bottle necks is
likely to stoke inflationary pressures more in the US than in other countries.
4. And the Fed was still providing monetary stimulus through monthly QE purchases.
These factors could cause an excess of demand in the economy which could then unleash
stronger and more sustained inflationary pressures in the US than in other western countries. This
could then force the Fed to take much earlier action to start tapering monthly QE purchases and/or
increasing the Fed rate from near zero, despite their stated policy being to target average inflation.
It is notable that some Fed members have moved forward their expectation of when the first

Page 101

APPENDIX B
increases in the Fed rate will occur in recent Fed meetings. In addition, more recently, shortages of
workers appear to be stoking underlying wage inflationary pressures which are likely to feed
through into CPI inflation. A run of strong monthly jobs growth figures could be enough to meet the
threshold set by the Fed of “substantial further progress towards the goal of reaching full
employment”. However, the weak growth in August, (announced 3.9.21), has spiked anticipation
that tapering of monthly QE purchases could start by the end of 2021. These purchases are
currently acting as downward pressure on treasury yields. As the US financial markets are, by far,
the biggest financial markets in the world, any trend upwards in the US will invariably impact and
influence financial markets in other countries. However, during June and July, longer term yields
fell sharply; even the large non-farm payroll increase in the first week of August seemed to cause
the markets little concern, which is somewhat puzzling, particularly in the context of the concerns
of many commentators that inflation may not be as transitory as the Fed is expecting it to be.
Indeed, inflation pressures and erosion of surplus economic capacity look much stronger in the US
than in the UK. As an average since 2011, there has been a 75% correlation between
movements in 10 year treasury yields and 10 year gilt yields. This is a significant UPWARD
RISK exposure to our forecasts for longer term PWLB rates. However, gilt yields and
treasury yields do not always move in unison.
There are also possible DOWNSIDE RISKS from the huge sums of cash that the UK populace
have saved during the pandemic; when savings accounts earn little interest, it is likely that some of
this cash mountain could end up being invested in bonds and so push up demand for bonds and
support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields down. How this will interplay with the
Bank of England eventually getting round to not reinvesting maturing gilts and then later selling
gilts, will be interesting to keep an eye on.
The balance of risks to medium to long term PWLB rates: • There is a balance of upside risks to forecasts for medium to long term PWLB rates.
A new era – a fundamental shift in central bank monetary policy
One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking and shift in monetary
policy by major central banks like the Fed, the Bank of England and the ECB, to tolerate a higher
level of inflation than in the previous two decades when inflation was the prime target to bear down
on so as to stop it going above a target rate. There is now also a greater emphasis on other targets
for monetary policy than just inflation, especially on ‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum”
employment in its entirety’ in the US before consideration would be given to increasing rates.
•

•
•

•

•

The Fed in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy based on a clear goal
of allowing the inflation target to be symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to keep under), so
that inflation averages out the dips down and surges above the target rate, over an
unspecified period of time.
The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy so that inflation
should be ‘sustainably over 2%’ and the ECB now has a similar policy.
For local authorities, this means that investment interest rates and very short term
PWLB rates will not be rising as quickly or as high as in previous decades when the
economy recovers from a downturn and the recovery eventually runs out of spare
capacity to fuel continuing expansion.
Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the wage-price spirals
that fuelled high levels of inflation and has now set inflation on a lower path which makes
this shift in monetary policy practicable. In addition, recent changes in flexible employment
practices, the rise of the gig economy and technological changes, will all help to lower
inflationary pressures.
Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower as every rise in central
rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded levels of national debt; (in the UK this is £21bn
for each 1% rise in rates). On the other hand, higher levels of inflation will help to erode the
real value of total public debt.

Page 102

